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The Year at a Glance 
The following key financial indicators and operating statistics summarize the per-
formance of the Corporation for the year 2006 with comparative data for the years 
2002 to 2005. They exclude the financial results of the variable interest entity.

1.	 Cash operating expenses used in the calculation of the Revenue/Cash operating expenses ratio, exclude 
amortization of Property, plant and equipment, reorganization charges, accounting accrual for compensa-
tion, unrealized gains on derivative financial instruments, pension and employee future benefits.

2.	 Excludes internal funding from the Asset Renewal Fund of $23.9 million in 2006, $27.4 million in 2005 and 
$7.7 million in 2004 and includes a capital funding contribution to the Asset Renewal Fund of $5.0 million in 
2001, 2002 and 2003.

3.	 Key operating statistics are unaudited.

	 	 2006	 2005	 2004	 2003	 2002

Key financial indicators	
(IN MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)

Total revenue	 297.1	 289.8	 258.7	 250.3	 270.8

Cash operating expenses (1)	 475.5	 465.7	 443.8	 431.4	 424.2

Operating deficit (1)	 178.4	 175.9	 185.1	 181.1	 153.4

Capital expenditures	 14.5	 21.2	 20.2	 77.4	 98.4

Government funding:

	 Operating	 169.0	 169.0	 177.4	 181.1	 153.7

	 Capital	 0.0	 0.7	 20.2	 82.4	 103.4

Total Government funding (2)	 169.0	 169.7	 197.6	 263.5	 257.1

Key operating statistics (3)

Revenue/Cash operating expenses ratio (%) (1)	 62.8	 62.4	 58.8	 58.5	 64.5

Total passengers carried (IN THOUSANDS)	 4,091	 4,097	 3,887	 3,789	 3,981

Total passenger-miles (IN MILLIONS)	 874	 888	 851	 857	 948

Government operating funding 
   per passenger-mile (IN CENTS)	 19.3	 19.0	 20.8	 21.1	 16.2

Yield (CENTS PER PASSENGER-MILE)	 30.3	 28.6	 28.0	 26.8	 26.6

Train-miles operated (IN THOUSANDS)	 6,665	 6,740	 6,771	 6,780	 6,770

Car-miles operated (IN THOUSANDS)	 47,625	 48,614	 48,396	 48,682	 48,262

Average passenger load factor (%)	 55	 55	 53	 53	 57

Average number of passenger-miles 
   per train-mile	 131	 132	 126	 126	 140

On-time performance (%)	 84	 81	 70	 73	 84

Number of employees at year-end 	 3,003	 3,059	 3,027	 3,051	 3,054



�

Corporate Overview 
VIA Rail operates Canada’s national passenger rail service on behalf 
of the Government of Canada. An independent Crown corporation 
established in 1977, we provide safe, efficient and environmentally 
responsible passenger rail service from coast to coast. We operate 
up to 492 trains weekly on 12,500 kilometres of track, connecting 
over 450 Canadian communities. With approximately 3,000 em-
ployees, VIA carried almost 4.1 million passengers in 2006.

OUR VISION 
At VIA, we will be the Canadian leader of service excellence in passenger  
transportation.

OUR MISSION 
We will work together to provide travel experiences that anticipate the needs and 
exceed the expectations of our customers. 

OUR VALUES 
Customer Focus 
We appreciate and listen to our customers, and we innovate to provide the best 
passenger transportation experience at the best value for money. 

Respect 
We are human – people who respond with integrity to the needs of our customers, 
to each other and to the people and communities we serve. 

Passion 
We are passionate about passenger rail and the role that it can play in the social, 
economic, and environmental development of Canada.

Corporate overview
VI

A
 R

ai
l 

Ca
na

da
 |

 0
6



OUR SERVICES

In Western Canada, we provide year-round, all-weather intercity transportation,  
including service to remote communities. The legendary Western transcontinental 
train the Canadian® provides service thrice weekly between Toronto and Vancouver. 

In the Quebec City-Windsor corridor, our trains provide intercity passengers with 
fast, convenient, comfortable and affordable service, downtown-to-downtown,  
between Canada’s largest business centres. 

In Eastern Canada, the Ocean™ runs six times a week between Montreal and 
Halifax, offering its friendly Easterly™ class service during the peak season. The  
Chaleur™ makes three trips each week from Montreal through the Gaspé Peninsula. 

In rural and remote areas, we operate services designated by the government to 
meet regional transportation needs.
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Message from the Chairman 
VIA Rail retained its position as a Canadian leader 
in passenger transportation in 2006, combining 
responsible management of its resources with  
efficient, responsive service to customers and 
communities across the country. 

This success is especially impressive given the 
budgetary constraints of the Corporation. With dis-
cussions regarding capital and operating funding 
ongoing, VIA entered the year in a difficult position – 
facing a highly competitive and unstable travel mar-
ket, rising costs, and a projected funding shortfall. 

By refining its focus on the customer, the Corporation responded quickly to changing 
travel patterns and markets with innovative services and marketing – maintaining 
and slightly improving on the revenue gains achieved in 2005. Prudent management 
of resources and new entrepreneurial initiatives helped to contain rising costs, keep-
ing cost recovery on an upward trend. Together, strong revenues and efficient cost 
management allowed VIA to complete the year within the limits of available funding. 
This is in itself no small achievement. 

At the same time, VIA maintained a high quality of service to Canadians. On-time 
performance improved, despite aging equipment and infrastructure. Customer 
satisfaction ratings remain the highest in the industry. And VIA Rail continues to  
enjoy a corporate reputation as one of the most trusted transportation companies 
in Canada.� 

The Board of Directors recognizes that this success would have been impossible 
without the loyalty and support of VIA’s customers, the communities VIA serves, 
and VIA’s people, who demonstrate their dedication to Canada’s national passenger 
rail service every day. 

Although I joined VIA Rail’s Board late in the year, the quality of VIA’s people became 
evident very quickly. To everyone at VIA, I offer my appreciation and congratulations 
for a job well done in 2006.

I must also commend the members of the Board for their dedicated work on behalf 
of passenger rail in Canada. We share a commitment to demonstrate integrity in 
providing oversight of the Corporation, and foresight in managing the strategic direc-
tion of the national passenger rail service. 

�   Leger and Leger Corporate Reputation Study, 2006.
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To this end, I am pleased that the Board adopted a clearly articulated code of ethics 
for Directors in 2006, and I fully support our continued efforts to refine Board opera-
tions through an examination of best practices in corporate governance. The Board 
joins me in welcoming and supporting the renewed emphasis on transparency and 
integrity for Crown corporations set out in the Accountability Act, which received 
Royal assent in December 2006.

A responsibly managed passenger rail service, responding to the changing needs of 
Canadian travellers, plays an important role in the social, economic and environmental 
development of Canada. VIA is working with the Government of Canada to clarify that 
role for the future, to develop a long-term vision for the service, and to assess the 
funding requirements to achieve that vision. 

Encouraged by excellent working relationships between the Corporation and the 
Departments of Transport and Finance, the Treasury Board, and other agencies, I am 
confident that a realistic and sustainable vision will ensure the continued success of 
Canada’s national passenger rail service.

Donald A. Wright 
Chairman of the Board
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Message from the President 
The core of VIA’s business strategy – and the heart 
and soul of VIA as a corporation – is our customer 
focus. Our success as a customer- intimate orga-
nization depends on listening to, understanding 
and anticipating passenger needs, developing a 
service that meets those needs, and then going 
a step further to deliver a service that exceeds all 
expectations. 

Our goal is to grow our base of loyal customers, 
and to make every customer an advocate for 
choosing passenger rail.

This central focus on the customer builds on what sets rail apart in the market-
place, and our single most important competitive advantage: the way we treat the 
people who travel with us. And since many of VIA’s traditional markets have seen 
little growth for several years, this focus was the key to meeting the challenges of 
2006. By keeping the customer at the centre of everything we do, we succeeded 
in increasing revenues, productivity and cost-recovery. We also managed limited 
resources to considerably reduce a projected funding shortfall, all while providing a 
service that remains responsive to changing needs.

Early in the year we completed a major realignment of the Corporation, to better reflect 
what we need to do to succeed. This new organization aligns all activities, resources 
and people which affect customer service into a single branch, to deliver a consistent, 
high-value travel experience to our customers. At the same time, it aligns all opera-
tional activities to ensure the best possible support of that customer experience. 

In 2006 we improved our cross-functional approach and communications through-
out the Corporation, and developed new tools to identify and respond to customer 
needs. We developed new marketing and sales strategies to attract more customers, 
and to provide better access to our services. We further refined our existing services, 
such as the Easterly class to Halifax, and prepared to meet emerging market needs 
with new services like the Snow Train Express. We also launched a complete review 
of services throughout the Quebec City-Windsor corridor, to identify future needs 
and market opportunities. 

And we continued to refine our focus on the talents and expertise of our people, with 
better ways to recognize and celebrate performance on the job, better ways to identify 
the skills we need, and better opportunities for training and career advancement.

Message from the president
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As a result, we held on to the record ridership levels achieved in 2005, and once 
again we improved our yield – the revenue earned per passenger-mile. We reduced 
the funding gap, despite steadily rising operating costs that are outside of our  
control. And we raised customer satisfaction ratings to 98 per cent. In fact, the pro-
portion of customers who say we not only satisfied but exceeded their expectations 
has climbed from 32 per cent in 2000 to 40 per cent in 2006. 

The results, as always, are a credit to the people of VIA Rail, who made a tremen-
dous effort to keep passenger rail moving forward in 2006. They have made VIA a 
recognized leader in passenger service excellence in Canada. 

Their extraordinary talent – their creativity, innovation, and integrity – are the key to 
meeting the challenges we face as we continue to move forward. Together, we are 
building a Corporation in touch with the customer, aligned with the changing market-
place, and ready for the future.

Paul Côté 
President and Chief Executive Officer
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The Year in Review 
Moving Forward in 2006 
VIA has a strong track record managing Canada’s passenger rail service. Between 
1990 and 2006, the Corporation reduced operating funding requirements for the 
service by 59 per cent, while absorbing cost increases over the period. This reduc-
tion was achieved through vigorous revenue growth (up 108 per cent), and rigorous 
control of operating costs (down 14 per cent). The cost to the public for operating 
passenger rail has dropped significantly, and the quality of service across the coun-
try has improved.

Like many other businesses, VIA has faced new challenges in recent years, includ-
ing increased operating expenses, particularly fuel. Some of these challenges have 
been more specific to passenger rail, including shifts in travel markets and demand, 
and rising costs resulting from aging equipment and infrastructure. 

In 2005 VIA launched Moving Forward, a new business strategy to meet these 
challenges. The results were dramatic: VIA carried a record number of passengers  
during the year, and achieved a record increase in revenues. This plan will be  
reviewed in 2007.

Moving Forward makes the customer the cornerstone of VIA’s mission, vision and 
values, and defines six key corporate goals for the Corporation. These goals provide 
a customer-focused framework for managing VIA’s people and resources, adapting 
to new realities in the marketplace, and responding to the customers and communi-
ties VIA serves.

the year in review
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Moving Forward – corporate Goals
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the year in review

> Safety	
We will provide a safe and secure environment for our 
customers, ourselves and the general public. 

> People	
We will work together to create an environment that promotes 
a passionate commitment to realizing our vision and to VIA’s 
business success.

> Service	
We will consistently provide our customers with excellent 
travel experiences that exceed their expectations.

> Growth	
We will seize opportunities to offer innovative products 	
and services in all markets that we serve.

> Entrepreneurship	
We will become increasingly self-sufficient by continually 
improving productivity and increasing the revenue/cost ratio 	
on all train services.

> Environment	
We will actively structure our operations to meet the 
needs of our customers in an environmentally sustainable 
and responsible manner, while contributing to Canada’s 
commitment to the Kyoto accord.
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Canadian travel markets, and the travel industry as a 
whole, have changed in recent years. D uring the 1990s 
markets expanded rapidly, and VIA matched or exceeded 
that growth every year. In 2003 a number of uncontrollable 
events, including SARS, the war in Iraq, and the 
depreciation of the U.S. dollar, had a negative effect on 
travel markets. While domestic markets are in a recovery 
period and are now returning to 2002 levels, financial 
pressures have caused a number of bankruptcies, major 
restructuring and consolidations of services throughout 
the industry.

At the same time, travel patterns changed, with increased competition 
from other countries as destinations for international travel, a drop in 
overall travel into Canada from the U.S., and declines in long-distance 
travel in favour of shorter trips. Customer purchasing patterns have 
also changed, largely as a result of online technologies. Consumers 
continue to shift away from making purchases through traditional travel 
intermediaries, in favour of web-based tools which offer convenient, 
personalized travel planning and booking options.

VIA performed well during this period. Following a year-over-year drop 
in revenues in 2003, the Corporation responded quickly to shifts in 
the marketplace, with growth in both revenues and ridership. Despite 
intense competition, VIA maintained its performance in 2006. This was 
accomplished by continually refining marketing strategies and tools 
to acquire new passengers and build customer loyalty, all while iden-
tifying opportunities to provide enhanced, value-added services in key 
markets.



the year in review
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Aligning resources with the customer 
In February of 2006, VIA restructured its organization to bring its resources more 
precisely in line with the core focus of meeting our customers’ needs and exceeding 
their expectations. The new Customer function clearly identifies responsibilities 
and activities that contribute directly to the customer experience. A unified Oper-
ations branch brings new energy to the drive for operational excellence – aligning 
all resources involved in running passenger trains, including train operations, 
maintenance, safety and security.

The new Customer function integrates the process of developing and delivering 
services to VIA’s customers, from market research, product and service design, 
sales and marketing, through to service delivery on board trains, in VIA’s stations, in 
telephone sales offices and on the web. With more direct links between customer 
expectations, product development and service delivery, VIA has sharpened its busi-
ness focus – and is better able to ensure consistency between what the customer 
expects, and what the customer actually experiences.

While the new structure clarifies roles and accountabilities for related activities, VIA 
continues to emphasize the value of cross-functional teams – working groups which 
bring together people from different departments and functions. 

VIA first introduced the concept of cross-functional teams in 2001, when four  
regional service teams became responsible for VIA’s operations in the East, the 

West, Southwestern Ontario, 
and the area east of Toronto 
to Quebec City. These teams 
are responsible for all results 
related to the services and 
products they manage, includ-
ing cost-recovery, on-time 
performance and customer 
satisfaction ratings. They pro-
vide a foundation for the 
collaboration and teamwork 

necessary in a passenger service, and because of their proximity to their markets 
they are able to anticipate the needs and exceed the expectations of customers. 

The cross-functional approach embodied in service teams is also vitally important 
when managing issues which cut across organizational boundaries, and require col-
laboration between all parts of the Corporation. In addition to the four service teams, 
there are 14 cross-functional teams at VIA today, including two created in 2006 – 
the Accessibility Review Committee and the Risk Management Committee. These 
groups bring together the perspectives and skills necessary to identify problems and 
opportunities, explore solutions and new ideas, and take action quickly – with a clear 
understanding of the impact their decisions will have on the customer.

VI
A

 R
ai

l 
Ca

na
da

 |
 0

6

Moving Forward 

> Customer Focus	
We appreciate and listen to our customers, 	
and we innovate to provide the best 	
passenger transportation experience 	
at the best value for money.



responding to change

Building strong customer relationships 
VIA’s customer reward program, VIA Préférence, celebrated its 10th anniversary in 
2006. Designed to build customer loyalty, the program allows members to accumu-
late points toward free train travel, as well as periodic special offers. VIA Préférence 
has close to half a million members and is still growing steadily.

With customer loyalty becoming a key focus for the Corporation, VIA is building 
on VIA Préférence to strengthen and manage its relationship with customers. In 
November, VIA launched the first phase of a new customer profile technology  
using information from the 
VIA Préférence customer 
database, as well as infor-
mation gathered through 
RESERVIA, VIA’s online 
booking system. The tech-
nology gives telephone 
and counter sales agents 
instant access to customer 
information when making 
a booking – helping them to understand individual customers’ needs, and provide 
a more personalized service, such as offering products tailored to individual travel 
habits and preferences. VIA’s sales agents were also given extensive technology 
upgrades and improved network and telecommunications services in 2006, allowing 
them to respond to customers more quickly and efficiently.

Customer profile technology is part of a corporate strategy designed to help VIA 
become a customer-intimate organization – an organization that builds a more 
human bond with customers and strives to understand and respond to the specific 
needs of individual customers. 

On a broader scale, this is a major focus of the new Customer function, integrating 
all aspects of service design, marketing and delivery to provide customers with 
a consistent, unique and high-value travel experience. Efforts to attract, train and 
develop people with the right talents – VIA’s core competencies as a customer-
focused organization – are vital to this approach, and key to maintaining and 
strengthening relationships with customers.

13
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Moving Forward 

> Service 
We will consistently provide our customers 	
with excellent travel experiences that 	
exceed their expectations.
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New sales strategies and tools 
With limited opportunities to expand under currently defined network and service 
levels, VIA must depend on increased sales – particularly sales of high-yield products 
and services – to maintain and improve revenues.

Telephone sales offices developed a more proactive sales strategy in 2006 – taking 
better advantage of contact with customers to offer higher value services, and to 
encourage customers to travel with VIA more frequently.  VIA is also actively pursu-
ing growth through business-to-business marketing, increasing sales to corporate 
customers, and through partnerships with tour operators and travel agencies.

For both individual and corporate customers, web-based access to information, 
bookings and reservations is becoming essential. VIA has been a pioneer in provid-
ing online tools for customers, and web-based sales now account for a record 33 
per cent of total sales. 

Recognizing that the online experience is now a significant part of the total customer 
experience, VIA began a comprehensive review of its web site in 2006, and will begin 
work on an enhanced web site in 2007. VIA also introduced new online payment 
options – including “virtual credit cards” and INTERAC bank transfers – to make 
online transactions more efficient, convenient and secure for customers.

the year in review
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Enhanced services
VIA continues to explore opportunities to enhance the value of existing train ser-
vices, and to develop new services that would help to increase revenues.

Wireless Internet access for customers, offered on a trial basis in 2005, was 
launched on all Corridor trains in 2006. This is the first commercial deployment of 
Wi-Fi on passenger trains in North America. Developed on a partnership basis with 
the technology service provider Parsons, Wi-Fi is an example of VIA’s commitment 
to exceed customer expectations with a service that makes their trip more enjoy-
able, relaxing and productive.

In the Corridor, new schedules were introduced in response to customer feedback, 
providing for more convenient service from Montreal to Quebec City, and adding 
a new round trip between 
Montreal and Ottawa’s Fal-
lowfield station. Operation 
of the peak season Toron-
to-Niagara Falls train was 
extended in 2006, and, in 
partnership with Fallsview 
Casino Resort and Peller 
Estates Winery, VIA added 
an additional train with a 
special “learn to play” Casino car – the first of its kind in Canada. The car offered 
customers the opportunity to relax and enjoy a complimentary Peller Estate wine 
sampling, while learning to play poker or blackjack from a professional Fallsview 
Casino Resort croupier. 

In Atlantic Canada, Easterly class service on board the Ocean – designed as a “Mari-
time Learning Experience”, complete with educational activities and regional cuisine 
– received high customer approval ratings during its first season in 2005. The service 
was improved and refined for its second year, operating for an extended peak sea-
son between Montreal and Halifax.

The Western Service team used 2006 to plan for a new summer tourism product 
on the Winnipeg-Churchill train, modeled on the Canadian’s successful Silver & Blue 
class service and scheduled to begin in 2007. The Western team also established 
a new winter service between Edmonton and Jasper, to operate for 15 weeks 
beginning in January 2007. Developed in partnership with Marmot Basin and the 
Town of Jasper, the Snow Train Express will provide weekend getaways for skiers, 
snowboarders and outdoor enthusiasts, thus helping to support the winter tourism 
economy in the region.

15
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responding to change

Moving Forward 

> Growth 
We will seize opportunities to offer 	
innovative products and services 	
in all markets that we serve.
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Listening to customers in the Corridor 
2006 marked the 150th anniversary of passenger rail service in central Canada. What 
began in 1856 with a 14-hour train trip between Toronto and Montreal has grown to 
become VIA’s busiest market, with some 400 trains operating in the Quebec City-
Windsor corridor every week.

To ensure that passenger rail continues to evolve and offer the best possible value 
to travellers in the Corridor, VIA undertook a close examination in 2006 of those 
features of rail service most important to customer satisfaction. In addition to on-
time performance and the quality of on-board services, value for money was singled 
out as one of the most important benefits to Corridor customers. Based in part on 
this research, VIA introduced new pricing strategies for services between Montreal 
and Quebec City, between Montreal and Toronto, and between Toronto and Ottawa. 
Leading to a significant increase in ridership, this proved to be one of the most suc-
cessful growth initiatives of 2006.

Following the success of this initiative, VIA launched the first steps in a comprehen-
sive review of all Corridor services. This review will include a complete forward-look-
ing assessment to determine how passenger rail must evolve to meet the changing 
needs of customers in the Corridor, and how it can serve more customers. 

The review will be supported by a number of innovative tools for conducting market 
research, including a pilot project that proposes to use online technology to gather 
consumer feedback. New tools will engage online panels in providing feedback to 
market researchers, while simplifying the process of conducting surveys, collect-
ing data, and analysing results. Experimenting with this new approach will give VIA 
insights into the value of using this new technology, and how it could be integrated 
into the Corporation’s overall market research strategy. 

the year in review
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responding to change

Met Exceeded
Customer Satisfaction, 2000-2006
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In 2006, VIA maintained and slightly improved upon the high level of customer 
satisfaction achieved in recent years. Overall satisfaction has remained at 96 per 
cent or higher since 2000, reaching a high of 98 per cent in 2006. The proportion of 
those satisfied customers who say that VIA exceeded their expectations has also 
been steadily increasing since 2000.
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Responsible Management
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Aligning people, talents,  
and goals 
VIA’s Moving Forward plan depends on the understanding, 
talents, and creativity that people bring to the job, and 
the opportunities they have to make a real contribution 
to VIA’s success.

VIA has made dialogue with people a priority – engaging employees in 
meaningful discussions about the Corporation’s vision, mission, values 
and goals, keeping everyone informed about business challenges, 
and providing honest feedback on both individual and corporate 
performance. Throughout 2006 VIA continued to improve the way it 
consults with employees through surveys, “town hall” meetings and 
informal discussions. The Corporation also asked employees to identify 
what kind of information they wanted to see, and how it could be best 
presented. As a result, VIA completed a comprehensive redesign of 
the tools used to communicate with employees, such as the employee 
newsletter, bulletins and memos from senior management.

VIA also strengthened its employee recognition program in 2006, and 
a new recognition program – emphasizing employee contributions to 
VIA’s success as a customer-focused organization – is currently being 
developed.
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VIA began changing the way it manages human resources in 2004, shifting the HR 
function from a largely administrative role to a more strategic one, developing the 
talent of VIA’s people, and aligning that talent with the goals of the Corporation. 
The process of hiring, training, promoting and rewarding talent is being rigorously 

managed – to create an 
organization where people 
succeed by directing their 
creativity and innovation to-
wards the success of pas-
senger rail.

As part of this emphasis 
on managing talent, VIA 
identified eleven core com-

petencies in 2006. Each competency – such as empathy and listening, teamwork, 
and creative problem-solving – combines knowledge, attitudes and skills that the 
Corporation needs to succeed as a customer-focused business. They also provide a 
valuable framework for people pursuing their own career growth and development 
at VIA Rail.

The core competencies have been integrated into VIA’s hiring practices, training 
and development programs, career and succession planning, and performance man-
agement. Management employees completed a self-assessment exercise on the  
competencies, which in turn was incorporated into the process for year-end evalua-
tions. In 2007, all management employees will create personal development plans 
reflecting these evaluations.

Course modules on the competencies are now included in the growing number of 
learning tools available to employees online – either from their home computers or 
through well-equipped e-Learning classrooms. 

VIA has also developed e-Careers, an online recruitment and career development 
service accessible to both employees and outside job applicants. E-Careers is an  
important tool that supports VIA’s efforts to attract new people, new ideas and new 
energy to the Corporation -- encouraging the recruitment and development of people 
with the right talents and skills for VIA’s future.

In the spring of 2006, VIA introduced a flexible benefits program for management 
employees. The initiative allowed the Corporation to offer a highly competitive 
benefits program best suited to employees’ personal needs, while at the same time 
containing the ever-growing costs associated with group benefits.

Controlling costs
Despite rising costs for key operating expenses, VIA maintained – and slightly 
improved – the high level of cost-recovery achieved in 2005. At 63 per cent, the 
revenue/expense ratio for passenger rail has improved by more than 117 per cent 
over the past 16 years.
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Moving Forward 

> People	
We will work together to create an environment 
that promotes a passionate commitment to real-
izing our vision, and to VIA’s business success.



Employees throughout the Corporation helped to maintain this performance by con-
trolling costs and increasing productivity in all aspects of VIA’s operations. Continu-
ing a practice introduced in 2005, VIA’s performance management and incentive 
programs encouraged and rewarded management employees for demonstrating 
effective cost controls, and for contributing to revenue performance.

Technology is proving particularly effective in controlling costs. Internet-based book-
ing and reservation technologies have helped VIA reduce costs significantly, while 
making access to rail services more convenient and efficient for VIA’s customers and 
partners. In 2006, VIA developed a web-based distribution platform for consumers 
and travel partners. All travel agencies in the U.S. have migrated to this platform, 
and most Canadian travel agencies will soon follow. This improvement is expected 
to save the Corporation more than $1 million annually.

Building strategic alliances is an important part of the newly realigned organization, 
allowing VIA to share the costs of developing and improving services, and expanding 
its marketing efforts, with its partners. For example, VIA completed implementa-
tion of wireless Internet service for customers on board all Corridor trains in 2006, 
with the service provider assuming the costs for implementing the technology. The 
service has provided extra convenience and value to customers without increasing 
VIA’s operating costs.

Strategic partnerships with tour operators, travel agencies and associations are also 
valuable tools to control costs, and continued to be important in 2006. Through VIA’s 
partnership with Brewster 
Transportation, VIA has es-
tablished a marketing pres-
ence in China, one of the 
biggest emerging markets 
for travel to Canada. VIA 
continues to work with the 
Canadian Tourism Commis-
sion, regional and local tour-
ism associations, as well as 
local chambers of commerce and boards of trade. These partnerships allow VIA to 
share the expertise and resources required to reach and develop new markets, while 
helping to support the Canadian tourism industry as a whole. 

Another strategy – fuel hedging – has been an important tool to control costs in 
recent years. Diesel fuel is central to VIA’s operations and accounts for 93 per cent 
of VIA’s total energy consumption. For more than a decade the Corporation has 
employed a hedging strategy involving agreements with financial institutions about 
price levels for this important commodity. This risk management strategy provides 
protection against extreme fluctuations in price, and has also resulted in consider-
able savings for the company – $27 million since 1996, and more than $4 million in 
2006 alone.
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Moving Forward 

> Entrepreneurship 
We will become increasingly self-sufficient by 
continually improving productivity and increasing 
the revenue/cost ratio on all train services.
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Managing the fleet 
VIA is using its limited capital funds to maintain an efficient and reliable passenger 
service. At the same time, VIA is taking the necessary steps to prepare for the 
future, identifying and planning for the equipment renewal and improvements 
needed to maintain service in the years ahead, and which will require significant 
capital investment.

VIA completed assembly and modifications to the final Renaissance train set, on 
schedule and in time for the busy summer season. The Renaissance fleet was  
purchased in 2000. With the final set modified, the Ocean between Montreal and 
Halifax now operates entirely with Renaissance equipment in the peak season –  
ensuring a uniform and consistent travel experience in Atlantic Canada. 

The new equipment replaced a 21-car train set, which was redeployed for use in the 
West on the Canadian. This extra train set in Vancouver has helped to ensure on-time 
departures on VIA’s flagship transcontinental train.

VIA is also developing plans for a comprehensive interior rebuild of the stainless steel 
fleet used on the Western transcontinental service. A competitive design process 
begun in 2005 has resulted in a full-sized, semi-functional mock-up of a redesigned 
sleeper bedroom. The design incorporates many customer advantages, including for-
ward facing seats, heating and air conditioning controls, larger windows, and includes 
plans that would allow for a wheelchair accessible bedroom in every car. The project, 
which requires capital funding to proceed, would include all sleepers and Park cars 
in this fleet.

While funds for improving existing equipment are extremely limited, VIA was able 
to undertake a $2.3 million overhaul of the stainless steel equipment used in the 
Quebec City-Windsor corridor. In 2006, the interiors of ten VIA 1 cars from this fleet 
were modified to match the more spacious and comfortable VIA 1 cars from the 
Light Rapid Comfortable (LRC) fleet, also used in the Corridor. The result is a more 
consistent service to all first class travellers in the Corridor. In 2007 VIA plans to 
overhaul ten Comfort class cars from the stainless steel fleet, to upgrade interiors 
and improve seating for customers.

Because the LRC fleet is also aging – leading to lower reliability and increased main-
tenance costs – VIA has also been taking the necessary preparatory steps for future 
renewal. VIA plans to undertake a major rebuilding project which will extend the life 
of this equipment by another 15 to 20 years, at a lower cost than buying new equip-
ment. A prototype was completed in 2006, and will be tested in service in 2007. 
Further progress on this project will require capital funding.

A prototype for rebuilding VIA’s General Motors F-40 locomotives was also 
completed in 2006. One of the company’s oldest locomotives, in service since the 
1980s, was completely stripped down and rebuilt from the ground up, incorporating 
state-of-the-art technology and components. The completely rebuilt engine provides  
200 additional horsepower and lower fuel consumption, at half the cost of purchasing 
a new locomotive. The prototype will be tested in service in 2007. Rebuilding the 
remaining 53 F-40 locomotives will require capital funding.

the year in review
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Creating a risk-smart culture
VIA Rail is strengthening its approach to risk management, emphasizing the need 
to embed a risk management focus into all management processes across the Cor-
poration. In an increasingly complex and rapidly changing business environment, 
it is vital for the Corporation to identify potential events or issues that might affect 
the reliability of its services, and to ensure that appropriate measures are in place 
to minimize the risks involved. Such events might include deterioration of the rail 
infrastructure, limiting VIA’s ability to deliver reliable on-time performance, or sudden 
surges in fuel prices, significantly raising VIA’s operating costs.

At the level of the Board of Directors, risk management is addressed by the Audit 
and Risk Committee, which monitors the procedures to identify principal business 
risks, and assesses steps undertaken to manage and mitigate them. 

In 2006, VIA created a cross-functional team to enhance this risk management  
focus and to ensure that it becomes integral to all management activities – including 
strategic and budget planning processes, internal and external audit procedures, and 
key processes such as safety and security planning, environmental management 
activities, and capital project planning. The new Risk Management Committee 
will enhance and sustain the level of awareness and sensitivity amongst VIA’s 
management team on the subject of risk management – providing an updated, 
corporate-wide risk assessment review annually, performing a gap analysis on 
major risks to determine if new actions should be taken, and monitoring all risk 
management initiatives.

The 2006 realignment also saw the merger of those groups responsible for health 
and safety, the environment, and quality control. The new Integrated Risk Manage-
ment group is charged with helping employees develop a systematic awareness and 
approach to managing operational risk in their day-to-day work activities.

responsible management
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Managing passenger rail responsibly means managing 
the bottom line. It also means much more. 

Since its beginnings, passenger rail has made vital contributions to Ca-
nadian society – to the growth and development of communities, to the 
economic infrastructure of the country, to the well-being and quality of 
life of Canadians. And it continues to play a role in the life of Canadians, 
communities and society that goes beyond the income statement. 

With this unique role comes great responsibility. VIA embraces this 
responsibility, and acts on it every day. 

VIA’s activities – like those of any corporation – have an impact on the 
life not only of customers, but a broad range of people, communities 
and interest groups. Responsible management means recognizing that 
VIA Rail does 
not operate in 
a vacuum. VIA 
is connected 
to the society 
it serves, and 
strives to be 
a good cor-
porate citizen 
– taking its 
impact on others into account in management decisions, and respon-
ding with integrity and respect to all stakeholders who are affected by 
its activities.

Moving Forward 

> Passion	
We are passionate about passenger rail and 	
the role that it can play in the social, economic 
and environmental development of Canada.
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Responding to communities 
Viewed by Canadians as a national icon, VIA is committed to providing a service that 
reflects and responds to all facets of Canada’s diverse, multicultural society. 

As a federal institution, VIA plays an important role in promoting Canada’s linguistic 
duality. The Corporation is committed to serving passengers in the official language 
of their choice, and to using both French and English in all internal and external com-
munications, as well as in business practices. In 2006, when VIA carried 4.1 million 
passengers, just six complaints were filed with the Office of the Commissioner of 
Official Languages. All were investigated and corrective measures were taken, to 
ensure that VIA continues to provide quality service in both official languages. 

In responding to people and communities in difficult circumstances, VIA also fulfills 
needs that passenger rail is uniquely positioned to address. In 2006, VIA worked 
closely with both the federal and provincial governments to help Canadians flee-
ing violence in Lebanon. As flights carrying returning Canadians arrived in Toronto 
and Montreal, VIA provided complimentary transportation to individuals and families 

to complete the final leg of 
their journey home. VIA’s 
employees received recog-
nition from many, including 
the Red Cross and the Gov-
ernment of Ontario, for their 
extraordinary efforts during 
the crisis.

VIA is also recognized as 
an industry leader work-

ing with people with disabilities to provide accessible transportation services. In 
2006, VIA created a new cross-functional Accessibility Committee, drawing together  
resources and expertise throughout the company to ensure that VIA continues to 
provide a responsive, accessible service. One of the first priorities for the Commit-
tee was to establish an external advisory group, helping VIA to engage in a dialogue 
with concerned groups of customers with special needs.

On many occasions throughout its history, VIA has provided special services to 
groups and communities who deserve recognition in Canada. In June 2006, VIA 
operated the Chinese Redress Express – a train bringing Canadian Chinese Head Tax 
payers, their families and descendents from Vancouver to Ottawa. The purpose of 
their journey was to witness an historic apology in the House of Commons. 

Finally, in November of 2006, VIA operated two unique trains linked to Remem-
brance Day. Between 1942 and 1948 some 40,000 war brides and 20,000 children 
came to Canada from Britain and Europe, first touching Canadian soil in Halifax. 
The War Bride Train brought hundreds of surviving war brides and family members 
from across the country back to Halifax to take part in special reunion celebrations. 
Following those celebrations, the Troop Train honoured Canadian veterans, bringing 
them with their families from Halifax to Ottawa for Remembrance Day ceremonies 
in the capital.
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Moving Forward 

> Respect 
We are human – people who respond with integ-
rity to the needs of our customers, 	
to each other, and to the people and 	
communities we serve.



Ensuring safety and security 
All VIA employees recognize that safety and security are the top priority for travel-
lers – and that safety can never be taken for granted. VIA Rail has one of the best 
safety records in the business, a testament to our continual efforts to improve safety 
procedures and to remain vigilant with respect to security.

VIA developed and implemented a comprehensive safety management system 
in 2001, integrating rules, procedures and responsibilities for safety and making 
safety a top priority for every employee. This system is regularly audited by Trans-
port Canada, and employees continue to review the system on an ongoing basis to 
provide essential feedback and suggest improvements. As in 2005, safety targets 
and performance measures were aligned with and integrated into VIA’s business 
strategy for 2006. In addition, safety performance is continually monitored by Health 
and Safety committees at all major VIA locations across Canada. These committees 
review annual safety reports and ongoing safety performance data to establish spe-
cific objectives for improving workplace safety, and to identify issues that require the 
attention of senior management.

An integral part of the safe-
ty management system is 
the Hazardous Assessment 
and Risk Control Strategies 
database, which was re-
viewed and updated early 
in 2006. This database is 
consulted by managers to 
identify and mitigate situa-
tions involving risk to customers, communities or employees. VIA developed a new 
hazard protection program using the database, along with a new training program 
for employees and VIA’s Health and Safety committees.

At the request of employees, VIA introduced an influenza immunization program 
in the fall of 2005. VIA continued the program in the fall of 2006, making flu shots 
universally available to employees on a voluntary basis, free of charge. At the same 
time, the Pandemic Planning Committee, newly created in 2006, focussed on 
developing and monitoring a proactive approach for mitigating the risks for VIA of a 
potential pandemic influenza outbreak in Canada, and ensuring that a rapid response 
plan is in place should one occur.

A cross-functional team is responsible for reviewing security policies and procedures 
at VIA Rail. The Strategic Security Planning Committee, chaired by the president with 
representatives from all departments and all parts of the passenger rail network, 
works with regulators and industry partners to enhance VIA’s security standards, 
and ensure that the best possible facility and operations security procedures are  
implemented at VIA. This committee oversaw further refinements and improve-
ments to VIA’s security practices and procedures in 2006, following an analysis of 
VIA’s security systems by an outside consultant in late 2005.
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Moving Forward 

> Safety	
We will provide a safe and secure environment for 
our customers, ourselves and the 	
general public.
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As part of this continuing emphasis on efficient and effective security for passenger 
rail, VIA’s Board of Directors approved a Corporate Security Policy in 2006. New 
security standards are currently being developed for VIA’s facilities, operations, and 
the Corporation as a whole.

An environmentally responsible passenger service
Passenger rail is considered one of the safest modes of public transportation avail-
able today, and one of the most environmentally sustainable. For VIA, managing 
passenger rail responsibly means operating the safest possible service, while con-
tinually reducing the environmental impact of this mode of transportation.

VIA’s Environmental Policy commits the company to operating all aspects of its 
business in an environmentally responsible manner. This policy is distributed to all 
employees and shared with contractors, and provides the foundation for VIA’s envi-
ronmental management system. 

A new e-Learning module 
explaining the company’s 
environmental commitment 
and encouraging “green” 
work practices was launched 
in 2006. This training is sup-
ported by on-going efforts 
to raise environmental 
awareness both inside and 

outside the Corporation by the new Integrated Risk Management group, and by 
voluntary groups of employees known as Green Teams. In 2006, Green Teams par-
ticipated with other associations and agencies in activities such as Earth Day, Car 
Free Day, Clean Air Day, and the International Youth Summit on Sustainable Urban 
Transportation.

In 2004 VIA enacted a Green Procurement Guide, which sets guidelines for pur-
chasing environmentally-friendly products and services, and in recent years the 
Corporation has sourced recycled paper for a variety of publications and supplies, 
including napkins, timetables and newsletters. Recycling of plastic, cans, glass and 
newspapers occurs on board and in offices across the network, while used linens 
and uniforms are also repurposed or recycled, with proceeds going to a variety of 
Canadian charities. This year, in an effort to reduce waste, VIA introduced a reusable 
coffee mug for sale to passengers.

One of VIA’s primary environmental goals is the continued reduction of greenhouse 
gas emissions through reduced fuel consumption. VIA has succeeded in signifi-
cantly decreasing emissions since 1990, even as the volume of its operations has 
grown. Compared to 1990, VIA operates 20 per cent more trains and carries 18 per 
cent more passengers; in the same period, VIA reduced greenhouse gas emissions 
by 15 per cent. 
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Moving Forward 

> Environment	
We will actively structure our operations to meet 
the needs of our customers in an environmentally 
sustainable and responsible manner.



In 2006, improvements were made to the air conditioning of Renaissance sleeper 
cars and the windows of P-42 locomotives to improve their energy efficiency, which 
will in turn have an impact on fuel efficiency. The proposed rebuild of a fleet of 20-
year-old locomotives and a fleet of 25-year-old passenger cars will result in further 
improvements in fuel efficiency.

As a transportation choice, passenger rail is recognized as one of the most envi-
ronmentally sustainable options for Canadian travellers. In 2004, rail transportation 
accounted for less than one per cent of Canada’s total greenhouse gas emissions, 
or 6,000 kilotons of CO2e.� Of that total, VIA’s operations accounted for 0.03 per 
cent, or 194 kilotons.

A partner in the global community
While VIA’s operations are based in Canada, the Corporation recognizes that Canada 
is part of a global community, and that the Corporation’s actions can affect people in 
other parts of the world.

In 2006 VIA became the first major transportation company in Canada to serve only 
fair trade certified coffee to its customers. Through cooperation with TransFair Can-
ada, an independent, not-for-profit certification body for fair trade products, VIA is 
able to guarantee that the coffee served on its trains has been grown according to 
strict environmental standards, and that the farmers and workers who produce the 
coffee have been paid a fair price for the product. VIA hopes that its commitment to 
fair trade will set an example for others, helping to improve the living conditions of 
farmers and workers in other countries.

VIA also had the opportunity to take the lead in exchanging views, expertise and 
solutions with the international community. In June 2006 VIA hosted the annual 
meeting of the International Union of Railways – the first time this event has been 
hosted outside of Europe – and the 7th World Congress on Railway Research. Also in 
June, VIA was a partner of the International Economic Forum of the Americas. The 
theme of the Forum – Growing Through Partnership: From Risk to Reward – covered 
a wide range of issues, among them sustainable development. 

International dialogue with communities around the world provides VIA with an op-
portunity to share information specific to Canada’s approach to passenger rail, while 
fostering an open and in-depth discussion of the most important economic, social 
and cultural issues facing society today.

�   Source: Canada’s GHG Inventory, Environment Canada, 2004. CO2e, or carbon dioxide equivalent, is the quan-

tity of a given greenhouse gas multiplied by its global warming potential. This is the standard unit for comparing 

the degree of harm caused by different greenhouse gasses. 29
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Corporate Governance 
In October 2006, the Government of Canada appointed Mr. Donald A. Wright as 
VIA’s Chairman of the Board for a period of three years. The appointment of a per-
manent Chairman is an important step forward for VIA, and Mr. Wright’s extensive 
business experience will be a valuable asset to the Corporation in the challenging 
years ahead.

The Corporation and its Board of Directors are committed to principles of good gov-
ernance, and have fully implemented a new governance program over the past few 
years, including a governance “matrix” that clearly defines the Board’s roles with 
respect to strategic planning and direction of the Corporation, performance manage-
ment of executives and directors, succession planning, risk management and finan-
cial oversight. Training and orientation programs for new Board members continue 
to play an important role in supporting good governance.

In 2006 the Board worked with an independent consultant to complete an assess-
ment of Board activities, including an evaluation of relations between the Board, 
VIA management, and the shareholder, of the Board’s focus on governance, and 
of the Board’s effectiveness overall. The exercise was very successful, with Board 
members quickly reaching a consensus on the findings of the review. The results 
will help the Board continue to maintain the highest standards in governance for 
the Corporation.

The Board also completed the development of a new code of ethics for Directors, 
and all members have signed this code. The code reflects the spirit and intent of the 
new Accountability Act, which sets out new standards of transparency and account-
ability for the officers of Crown corporations.

Workplace ethics 
VIA Rail fully implemented a Code of Conduct for all employees and executive of-
ficers of the Corporation in 2005. The Code of Conduct is a formal statement of VIA’s 
values and business practices, and a promise to serve Canadians with the highest 
standards in ethical behaviour and customer service. It reflects the Corporation’s 
dedication to responsible management and governance, and a work environment 
that fosters respect and integrity at all levels of the organization. A revised online 
Code of Conduct training module for employees was developed in 2006, and the first 
annual review of compliance with the Code was completed by the end of the year.

In 2005 VIA retained the services of an independent, third-party compliance officer, 
ensuring that employees are free to raise concerns about VIA’s operations with the 
assurance that those concerns will be recognized and resolved fairly.
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Management Discussion  
and Analysis 
This discussion and analysis presents data and comments on the Corporation’s 
financial position and results of operations for the year 2006. It should be read in 
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements, which follow, as well as the 
Year at a Glance on page 1.

In April 2006, as part of its mandate to provide passenger rail service in Canada, 
the Corporation entered into an operating agreement with the Keewatin Railway 
Company (“KRC”) to provide a financial contribution to KRC for the purposes 
of operating passenger rail services and essential freight to the communities in 
Northern Manitoba served by KRC. KRC is a Variable Interest Entity (VIE) to the 
Corporation given that the Corporation is the primary beneficiary exposed to a 
majority of the risk of loss from KRC’s activities. The Corporation has therefore 
consolidated the financial statements of KRC. In 2006, the financial contribution 
provided by the Corporation to KRC amounted to $2.0 million. (See note 11 in the 
consolidated financial statements.)

Overview of Financial Results
excluding the financial results of the variable interest entity.

Following two consecutive years of exceptional financial performance, VIA once again 
generated impressive financial results in 2006. Bottom line figures reflect a solid 
increase in revenues, organization-wide efforts to reduce costs, and several one-time 
events. Despite the pressures of turbulent travel markets and rising operating costs, 
the Corporation reduced its net operating deficit substantially compared to budget. 
There was a modest increase in the operating deficit as compared to last year.  

VIA began 2006 with the knowledge that, in the absence of other sources of fund-
ing, it would be necessary to draw on internal resources to meet operational and 
minimal capital requirements for the year. This challenge was met through a solid 
increase in passenger revenues versus 2005, combined with revenue from a one-
time recognition of capital gains in VIA’s Asset Renewal Fund investment port-folio, 
which brought total revenues in 2006 to an all-time high of $297.1 million. This is 
$11.3 million (or 4 per cent) higher than budget and $7.3 million (or 3 per cent) higher 
than last year.

These higher revenues were matched with lower than projected operating expenses 
due to careful management of costs across the organization. This enabled the 
Corporation to end its financial year with an operating deficit of $178.4 million – an 
increase of $2.5 million (or 1 per cent) compared to last year, but a reduction of  
$14.2 million (or 7 per cent) compared to budget.

Annual operating funding for passenger rail from the federal government has ranged 
from $181 million to $154 million since 1999. In recent years the Corporation has 
had to use the Asset Renewal Fund to make up the difference between govern-
ment operating funding available and the actual operating funding required. In 2006, 
due to the significant one-time revenues and rigorous cost controls, VIA was able 
to reduce the funding shortfall and therefore the amount of funding required from 
the Asset Renewal Fund, to $9.4 million. This is $14.2 million (or 60 per cent) better 
than anticipated. 31
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Revenue and Ridership
Passenger revenue continued to grow in 2006, even though growth was constrained 
by a slight decline in ridership in a weak and highly competitive travel market. Early in 
the year, Canadians’ winter travel patterns had begun to shift to destinations outside 
the country. Later, faced with rising costs of Canadian destinations due in part to the 
strong Canadian dollar, U.S. and overseas travellers began redirecting their vacation 
trips elsewhere, leaving capacity unfilled during summer months.

To offset this situation, VIA concentrated on managing yield to stimulate domestic 
travel, realigning fares to better match market conditions. A more flexible VIA 1 Cor-
ridor fare plan was introduced in the spring, building on the simplified Comfort class 
fares introduced in 2005. The market responded positively to this initiative, produc-
ing an immediate increase in ridership which continued through the rest of the year. 
Western Canada tourism also began to recover in August, reversing in part earlier 
losses in VIA’s long distance markets.

Overall, revenue per passenger-mile increased to 30.3 cents, almost 6 per cent 
higher than 2005. Total passenger revenues increased $11 million over 2005 to reach 
$266.6 million, a 4 per cent increase that, while substantial, fell 2 per cent short of 
budget targets. Passenger ridership slipped back slightly from the 4.1 million trips 
recorded last year, while passenger-miles, at 874 million, fell 1 per cent as a result 
of the weak demand for long distance travel – with particularly acute declines in 
Eastern Canada throughout the year.

VIA’s success in maintaining revenue growth throughout 2006 reflects its strong 
customer focus – supported by the creative application of technology to communi-
cate with our customers and simplify their travel planning. As more of the travel 
trade moves online, VIA is enhancing its web site to attract both consumers and 
business users: customers can register and create personalized travel profiles; 
and travel agents are able to book space directly, rather than making more costly  
arrangements through third-parties. As a result of the features introduced during 
2006, VIA’s online sales increased for the fifth consecutive year – growing by 30 per 
cent, reaching close to $90 million and accounting for about one third of total sales.

Operating Costs
excluding the financial results of the variable interest entity.

Total operating costs in 2006 were favourably influenced by a number of one-time 
factors, and by a concerted effort to contain costs across the organization. These 
factors resulted in expenses that were under budget by $3.0 million, or 1 per cent. 
As a result, total operating expenses increased by only 2 per cent, or $9.8 million, 
compared to 2005.

Train operating costs (particularly fuel) and compensation were the major source 
of increased costs versus 2005. The effects of higher fuel prices were significantly 
attenuated by the use of hedging techniques, which sheltered the Corporation from 
the full impact of increases in the price of fuel. 
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Changing financial conditions affecting the pension plan for VIA’s unionized employees 
also influenced operating costs. As required by the Income Tax Act, the Corporation 
did not contribute to the unionized plan for a number of years. However, given a mod-
est deterioration in the financial position of the plan, VIA elected to resume contribu-
tions in the second half of 2005. In 2006, the contribution to the unionized pension 
plan was $13.5 million for the full year (versus $5 million in 2005 for a partial year).

VIA benefited from two unbudgeted recoveries of prior year expenses in 2006: a 
recovery of prior year capital taxes and a recovery of accident costs incurred in 2005. 
Together, these served to reduce 2006 operating costs by $6.7 million.

The modest year-over-year increase in overall operating costs also demonstrates the 
impact of the Corporation’s stringent control of costs. VIA faced rising fuel prices, 
and inflation induced increases in labour, utilities, and other areas. Despite these 
pressures, expenses for compensation and train operations, including fuel and sta-
tion and property expenses, were below budget in 2006.

Marketing and sales expenses, as well as on-train product costs, increased over last 
year and were higher than budget. Increased marketing and sales expenses were 
due to higher spending on advertising and promotion, necessary to address intense 
competition, especially in the Corridor. In addition to inflation, increased VIA 1 pas-
senger traffic in the Corridor drove up product delivery costs, as food and beverages 
are included in the price of these first class tickets.

Capital Expenditures
excluding the financial results of the variable interest entity.

No new capital or operating funding was approved for passenger rail in 2006. A 
significant portion of the revenues from the Asset Renewal Fund were thus required 
to address operating funding shortfalls, with the rest dedicated to a modest capital 
program. 

VIA spent $14.5 million on capital expenditures in 2006 (funded entirely through 
the Asset Renewal Fund), which is $3.5 million less than planned. Slightly more 
than half of this year’s capital spending was devoted to equipment-related projects. 
These included the prototypes of the rebuilt F-40 locomotive and the rebuilt LRC car 
that will serve as the basis for a planned future program to rebuild these two fleets. 
The balance of the 2006 spending was largely devoted to information technology 
projects (26 per cent) and station upgrading projects (19 per cent).

VIA will carry the $3.5 million of unspent capital funding forward to 2007 to fund the 
expenditures deferred from 2006, as well as new capital projects.
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On-Time Performance
2006 saw improvements in on-time performance for the second year in a row. Overall 
on-time performance reached 84 per cent for 2006, a 3 percentage point improve-
ment over 2005. 

VIA tracks delay minutes and distinguishes between those caused by its own 
operations, and those attributable to infrastructure owners or other third parties. 
The Corporation has substantially reduced those delays under its direct control. 
In 2006, equipment maintenance delays in the Quebec City-Windsor corridor 
dropped 28 per cent lower than in 2005, and passengers experienced fewer service 
disruptions related to mechanical failures. In addition, VIA’s Customer Experience 
and Operations teams achieved a 13 per cent reduction in non-mechanical delay 
minutes compared to 2005.

The Western transcontinental service achieved an improvement in delay minutes, 
which decreased by 15 per cent compared to 2005, thanks to close cooperation with 
other railroad companies in controlling the impact of increased freight congestion on 
passenger train operations.

Overall on-time performance on the Eastern transcontinental service improved by 
15 percentage points from 2005, reaching 74 per cent. Delay minutes improved 
by 38 per cent, due largely to good weather conditions, fewer slow orders, and  
reduced freight traffic. The best performance was achieved in the eastern half of the 
Corridor (between Toronto and Quebec City), where on-time performance reached 
90 per cent. 

However, this year over year improvement disguises the fact that in 2005 VIA added 
time to its Corridor schedules to accommodate work programs. Longer trips have 
the potential to undermine customer satisfaction and loyalty in VIA’s busiest region, 
where travellers are especially time sensitive. Slower trains and erratic on-time per-
formance pose a serious challenge as VIA faces competition from other modes.

Outlook for 2007
VIA’s Moving Forward plan, with its clear focus on the customer, has helped the 
national passenger rail service adapt to changing market conditions and achieve 
strong financial results over the past three years. VIA will continue to achieve strong 
results in 2007 by maintaining this focus, striving to be the Canadian leader of service 
excellence in passenger transportation – anticipating, meeting and exceeding the 
needs of its customers.

Success will depend on responding to future shifts in market demand, particularly 
in Central and Eastern Canada, a volatile marketplace characterized by aggressive 
price competition. Domestic travel markets will be the key to revenue growth in 
2007. Forecasts from the Canadian Tourism Commission and the Conference Board 
of Canada suggest that 2007 will see a modest increase in domestic travel, particu-
larly business travel, while travel demand from the U.S. and overseas markets will 
continue to be weak – with a decline in travellers from the U.S. 
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To meet these challenges, VIA will further refine its service delivery, marketing and 
pricing strategies, ensuring that they remain responsive to customer needs and 
opportunities for growth. 

The corporate realignment undertaken in 2006, which integrated all aspects of ser-
vice design, development, marketing and delivery in order to enhance value to the 
customer, will provide the framework for re-energizing VIA’s entire organization in 
2007. New teams and fresh ideas will help to marshal the company’s resources, and 
enable its people to develop more innovative products and services. Creativity and 
flexibility will be critical to ensure that VIA continues to offer the right kind of service 
and the highest possible value to Canadian travellers.

At the same time, VIA must continue to address the pressure of rising costs. Rigor-
ous cost controls will continue to reduce expenses, while efforts to increase pro-
ductivity will focus on enhancing the talents of VIA’s people, developing innovative 
applications of technology, and exploring new entrepreneurial initiatives to further 
increase the Corporation’s level of self-sufficiency.

Without investment to overhaul equipment and to upgrade the rail infrastructure and 
other assets, there is a significant risk that customer satisfaction and ridership will 
deteriorate. This risk remains a primary concern for VIA Rail in 2007. The Corporation 
is working closely with the Government of Canada to develop a plan that will address 
both operating and capital funding needs of passenger rail for the future. This plan 
will ensure that Canada’s national passenger rail service can continue to meet the 
needs of Canadian travellers in the future.
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consolidated Financial statements

Management’s  
Responsibility Statement 
year ended december 31, 2006

Management of the Corporation is responsible for the preparation and integrity of 
the consolidated financial statements contained in the Annual Report. These con-
solidated statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally  
accepted accounting principles and necessarily include certain amounts that are 
based on management’s best estimates and judgement. Financial information con-
tained throughout the Annual Report is consistent with that in the consolidated fi-
nancial statements. Management considers that the consolidated statements pres-
ent fairly the financial position of the Corporation, the results of its operations and 
its cash flows.

To fulfill its responsibility, the Corporation maintains systems of internal controls, 
policies and procedures to ensure the reliability of financial information and the 
safeguarding of assets. The internal control systems are subject to periodic reviews 
by Samson Bélair/Deloitte & Touche, s.e.n.c.r.l., as internal auditors. The external 
auditors, the Auditor General of Canada and Ernst & Young LLP, have audited the 
Corporation’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 
2006, and their report indicates the scope of their audit and their opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements.

The Audit and Risk Committee of the Board of Directors, consisting primarily of 
independent Directors, meets periodically with the internal and external auditors 
and with management, to review the scope of their audits and to assess reports on 
audit work performed. The consolidated financial statements have been reviewed 
and approved by the Board of Directors on the recommendation of the Audit and 
Risk Committee.

Paul Côté	 Robert St-Jean
President and Chief Executive Officer	 Chief Financial and Administration Officer

Montreal, Canada 
February 8, 2007
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Auditors’ Report 
To the Minister of Transport, Infrastructure 	
and Communities 
We have audited the consolidated balance sheet of VIA Rail Canada Inc. as at  
December 31, 2006 and the consolidated statements of operations and retained 
earnings and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Corporation’s management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material mis-
statement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assess-
ing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Corporation as at December 31, 2006 and the 
results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.  As required by the Finan-
cial Administration Act, we report that, in our opinion, these principles have been 
applied on basis consistent with that of the preceding year.

Further, in our opinion, the transactions of the Corporation that have come to our no-
tice during our audit of the financial statements have, in all significant respects, been 
in accordance with Part X of the Financial Administration Act and regulations, the 
Canada Business Corporations Act and articles and the by-laws of the Corporation.

Ernst & Young LLP	 Sheila Fraser, FCA
Chartered Accountants	 Auditor General of Canada

Montreal, Canada 
February 8, 2007
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consolidated balance sheet

as at december 31
in tHousaNDS

	 2006 	 2005

Current Assets  		

Cash and cash equivalents	 $	 4,250	 $	 2,621	

Accounts receivable, trade		  5,805		  6,723

Accounts receivable, prepaid and other		  2,080		  1,514

Derivative financial instruments (note 12)		  5,759		  5,678

Materials		  19,968		  16,105

Asset Renewal Fund (NOTE 4)	 	 22,000		  37,700

		  59,862		  70,341

Long-term assets

Property, plant and equipement (note 3)	 	 533,123		  571,012

Asset Renewal Fund (note 4)		  55,141		  68,489

Accrued benefit asset (note 6)		  230,878		  177,245

Derivative financial instruments (note 12)		  1,206		  6,587

Other		  220		  986

		  820,568		  824,319

	 $	 880,430	 $	 894,660

Current liabilities	

Account payable and accrued liabilities (note 5 and 12)	 $	 94,687	 $	 99,207

Deferred revenues		  11,524		  9,473

	 	1 06,211		  108,680

Long-term liabilities

Accrued benefit liability (NOTE 6)		  24,477		  21,805

Future corporate taxes (note 7)		  35,871		  35,408	

Deferred investment tax credits		  2,292		  2,639

Other		  778		  568

		  63,418		  60,420

Deferred capital funding (note 8)		  530,242		  578,733

Shareholder’s equity

Share capital (note 9)		  9,300		  9,300

Contributed surplus		  4,963		  4,963

Retained earnings 		  166,296		  132,564

		  180,559		  146,827

	 $	 880,430	 $	 894,660

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 10 and 16 respectively) 	 See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

On behalf of the Board, 	

Kenneth Savage, CA, CFP	 Donald A. Wright
Director and Chairman of the Audit 	 Director and Chairman of the Board 
and Risk Committee
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consolidated statement of 	
operations and retained earnings

Year ended december 31
in THOUSANDS

	 2006 	 2005

Revenues  		

Passenger	 $	 266,609	 $	 255,593

Investment income		  17,987		  22,017

Other		  13,219		  12,150

	 	 297,815		  289,760

Expenses		

Compensation and benefits		  213,877		  210,825

Train operations and fuel (note 12)		  118,033		  97,091

Stations and property		  28,533		  27,818

Marketing and sales		  28,398		  27,120

Maintenance material		  23,551		  23,964

On-train product costs		  17,969		  17,359

Operating taxes		  6,159		  11,394

Employee future benefits (note 6)		  (29,594)		  (14,043)

Amortization and losses on write-down and disposal 
   of property, plant and equipement		  58,956		  59,599

Other		  22,590		  31,025

	 	 488,472		  492,152

Operating loss before funding from the 
   Government of Canada and corporate taxes		1  90,657	 	 202,392

Operating funding from the Government of Canada		  169,001		  169,001

Amotization of deferred capital funding (note 8)	 	 55,851		  57,633

Income before corporate taxes	 	 34,195		  24,242

Corporate tax expense (note 7)	 	 463		  1,983

Net income for the year 	 	 33,732		  22,259

Retained earnings, beginning of year	 	1 32,564		  110,305

Retained earnings, end of year	 $	1 66,296	 $	 132,564

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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consolidated Financial statements

consolidated statement of Cash flows

Year ended december 31
in THOUSANDS

	 2006 	 2005

Operating activities  		

Net income for the year 	 $	 33,732	 $	 22,259

Non-cash items relating to operations:

Amortization of property, plant and equipment	 	 58,956		  59,336

Losses on write-down and disposal of property, 
   plant and equipment		  347		  610

Gain on disposal of Asset Renewal Fund investments	 	 (13,645)		  (7,073)

Amortization of premium and discount on purchase
   of bonds in the Asset Renewal Fund		  23		  187

Amortization of invesment tax credits		  (347)		  (347)

Amortization of deferred capital funding		  (55,851)		  (57,633)

Future corporate taxes		  463		  1,576

Unrealized net loss (gain) on derivative 
   financial instruments		  4,429		  (5,827)

Change in non-cash working capital related to operations		  (5,326)		  13,720

Change in other long-term assets		  766		  3,766

Change in accrued benefit asset		  (53,633)		  (31,317)

Change in accrued benefit liability	 	 2,672		  2,460

Change in other long-term liabilities	 	 427		  (67)

	 	 (26,987)		  1,650

Financing activities

Capital funding		  7,360		  700

	 	 7,360		  700

Investing activities

Acquisition of investments in the Asset Renewal Fund	 	 (636,575)		  (307,660)

Proceeds from sale and maturity of investments 
   in the Asset Renewal Fund		  679,245		  319,063

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment	 	 (22,012)		  (21,198)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant equipment		  598		  252

		  21,256		  (9,543)

Cash and cash equivalents  		

Increase (decrease) during the year	 	 1,629		  (7,193)

Balance, beginning of year	  	 2,621		  9,814

Balance, end of year	 $	 4,250	 $	 2,621

Represented by:

Cash	 $	 393	 $	 126

Short-term investments, 4.30%, maturing in 
   January 2007 (2005: 3.28%)		  3,857		  2,495

	 $	 4,250	 $	 2,621

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements
As at December 31, 2006

1. Authority and objectives 
VIA Rail Canada Inc. is a Crown corporation named in Part I of Schedule III to the 
Financial Administration Act.  It was incorporated in 1977, under the Canada Business 
Corporations Act. The Corporation’s vision is to be the Canadian leader in service 
excellence in passenger transportation with a mission to work together to provide 
travel experiences that anticipate the needs and exceed the expectations of our cus-
tomers. The Corporation uses the roadway infrastructure of other railway companies 
and relies on them to control train operations.

The Corporation is not an agent of Her Majesty and is subject to income taxes.

The Corporation has one operating segment, passenger transportation and related 
services.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. The significant 
accounting policies followed by the Corporation are summarized as follows:

A | Variable Interest Entities

These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Cor-
poration and as required by Accounting Guideline 15 “Consolidation of Variable Inter-
est Entities” (“AcG-15”), the financial statements of the Keewatin Railway Company 
(“KRC”), a variable interest entity (VIE).  AcG-15 requires the consolidation of VIEs if 
a party with an ownership, contractual or other financial interest in the VIE (a variable 
interest holder) is exposed to a majority of the risk of loss from the VIE’s activities, 
is entitled to receive a majority of the VIE’s residual returns (if no party is exposed to 
a majority of the VIE’s losses), or both (the primary beneficiary). Upon consolidation, 
the primary beneficiary generally must initially record all of the VIE’s assets, liabili-
ties and non-controlling interests at fair value at the date the enterprise became the 
primary beneficiary (See note 11).  The Corporation revises its initial determination 
of the accounting for VIEs when certain events occur, such as changes in governing 
documents or contractual arrangements.

Notes to consolidated Financial Statements
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b | Funding from the Government of Canada

Operating funding, which pertains to services, activities and other undertakings of 
the Corporation for the management and operation of railway passenger services 
in Canada, is recorded as a reduction of the operating loss. The amounts are deter-
mined on the basis of operating expenses less commercial revenues excluding unre-
alized gains and losses on derivative financial instruments, employee future benefits 
and non-cash transactions relating to property, plant and equipment and future cor-
porate taxes, and are based on the operating budget approved by the Government 
of Canada for each year. 

Funding for depreciable property, plant and equipment is recorded as deferred capi-
tal funding on the Consolidated Balance Sheet and is amortized from the acquisition 
date on the same basis and over the same periods as the related property, plant and 
equipment. Upon disposition of the funded depreciable property, plant and equip-
ment, the Corporation recognizes into income all remaining deferred capital funding 
related to the property, plant and equipment. Funding for non-depreciable property, 
plant and equipment is recorded as contributed surplus.

c | Cash equivalents

Cash equivalents include highly liquid investments purchased three months or less 
from maturity and are carried at lower of cost or market value.

d | Asset Renewal Fund

Short-term investments are carried at the lower of cost or market value, determined 
on an aggregate basis.

The other investments in the Asset Renewal Fund are carried at cost. The carrying 
value of each of these investments is assessed periodically to determine if there 
has been an other than temporary decline in value. A charge to income is recorded 
during the period in which such a decline in value is determined.

e | Revenue recognition

Revenues earned from passenger transportation are recorded as services are ren-
dered. Amounts received for train travel not yet rendered are included in current 
liabilities as deferred revenues. Investment income and other revenues which in-
cludes third party revenues are recorded as they are earned.

f | Foreign currency translation

Accounts in foreign currencies are translated using the temporal method. Under this 
method, monetary  Balance Sheet items are translated at the exchange rates in ef-
fect at year-end. Gains and losses resulting from the changes in exchange rates are 
reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Retained Earnings.

Non-monetary Balance Sheet items as well as foreign currency revenues and ex-
penses are translated at the exchange rate in effect on the dates of the related 
transactions.

Notes to consolidated Financial Statements, as at december 31, 2006
2. accounting policies (Cont’d)
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g | Materials

Materials, consisting primarily of items used for the maintenance of rolling stock, 
are valued at the lower of weighted average cost and replacement cost, and at net 
realizable value for obsolete materials.

h | Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment acquired from Canadian National Railway and Ca-
nadian Pacific Limited at the start of operations in 1978 were recorded at their net 
transfer values while subsequent acquisitions, including those acquired under capi-
tal leases, are recorded at cost.

The costs of refurbishing and rebuilding rolling stock and costs associated with other 
upgrading of property, plant and equipment are capitalized if they are incurred to 
improve the service value or extend the useful lives of the property, plant and equip-
ment concerned; otherwise, such costs are expensed as incurred.

Retired property, plant and equipment are written down to their net realizable value.

Amortization of property, plant and equipment is calculated on a straight-line basis 
at rates sufficient to amortize the cost of property, plant and equipment, less their 
residual value, over their estimated useful lives, as follows: 

Rolling stock			   12 to 30 years

Maintenance buildings			   25 years

Stations and facilities			   20 years

Infrastructure improvements			   5 to 40 years

Leasehold improvements			   2 to 20 years

Machinery and equipment			   4 to 15 years

Information systems		     	 3 to 7 years

Other property, plant and equipment			   3 to 10 years

No amortization is provided for projects in progress and retired property, plant and 
equipment.

i | Corporate taxes

The Corporation utilizes the liability method of accounting for corporate taxes under 
which future corporate tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated 
future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial state-
ment carrying amount and the tax basis of assets and liabilities. Future corporate 
tax assets and liabilities are measured using substantively enacted rates that are 
expected to apply for the year in which those temporary differences are expected 
to be recovered or settled. The effect on future corporate tax assets and liabilities of 
a change in tax rates is recognized in earnings in the period that includes the enact-
ment date. Future corporate tax assets are recognized to the extent that realization 
is considered more likely than not.

Notes to consolidated Financial Statements, as at december 31, 2006
2. accounting policies (Cont’d)
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j | Investment tax credits 

Investment tax credits are recognized when qualifying expenditures have been 
made, provided there is reasonable assurance that the credits will be realized. They 
are amortized over the estimated useful lives of the related property, plant and 
equipment. The amortization of deferred investment tax credits is recorded as a 
reduction of the amortization of property, plant and equipment. These credits are 
included in other long-term liabilities.

K | Employee future benefits 

The Corporation accrues obligations under its employee future benefit plans.

The cost of pension and other employee future benefits earned by employees is 
actuarially determined using the projected benefit method prorated on services and 
management’s best estimate of expected plan investment performance, salary es-
calation, retirement ages of employees and expected health care costs.

For the purpose of calculating the expected return on plan assets, those assets are 
valued at market value.

On January 1, 2000, the Corporation adopted the new accounting standard on em-
ployee future benefits using the prospective application method. The Corporation is 
amortizing the transitional asset on a straight-line basis over 13 to 14 years, which 
was the average remaining service lives of the active employee groups at the time.

Past service costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected average 
remaining service lives of the active employee groups which was, in most cases, 
estimated to be 11 years at the time.

For the pension plans, the excess of the accumulated net actuarial gain or loss over  
10 per cent of the greater of the accumulated benefit obligation and the fair value of 
plan assets is amortized on a straight-line basis over the average remaining service lives 
of the active employee groups which is, in most cases, estimated to be 12 years.

The Corporation’s obligations for worker’s compensation benefits are based on 
known awarded disability and survivor pensions and other potential future awards 
with respect to accidents that occurred up to the fiscal year-end. The Corporation is 
self-insured.  The actuarial determination of these accrued benefit obligations uses 
the projected benefit method. This method incorporates management’s best esti-
mate of cost escalation as well as demographic and other financial assumptions. 
Management’s best estimate also takes into account the experience and assump-
tions of provincial workers’ compensation boards. The actuarial gains or losses are 
amortized over a seven-year period, the average duration of these obligations.

Notes to consolidated Financial Statements, as at december 31, 2006
2. accounting policies (Cont’d)
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L | Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments such as swaps, call options and forward foreign ex-
change contracts, are utilized by the Corporation in the management of its exposure 
to changes in fuel prices for up to 80 per cent of its consumption. The Corporation 
does not enter into derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative pur-
poses. The Corporation does not currently apply hedge accounting on these deriva-
tive financial instruments.

Derivative financial instruments are recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheet 
at inception and removed when they expire or are terminated. On the inception, 
each derivative is recognized at fair value as either an asset or a liability on the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet and changes in fair value are recognized in the train 
operations and fuel expenses. Derivative financial instruments with a positive fair 
value are reported as derivative financial instrument assets and derivatives with a 
negative fair value are reported as part of accounts payable and accrued liabilities or 
other long-term liabilities.

m | Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as well 
as revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. 
The most significant estimates involve the recognition of liabilities and other claims 
against the Corporation, the fair value of financial instruments, employee future ben-
efits, future corporate taxes as well as the useful life of property, plant and equip-
ment. Actual results could differ from these estimates and such differences could 
be material.

n | VIA Préférence Program

The incremental costs of providing travel awards under the Corporation’s VIA Pré-
férence frequent traveller reward program are accrued as the entitlements to such 
awards are earned and are included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

o | Non-Monetary Transactions

Non-monetary transactions are recorded at the estimated fair value of the goods 
or services received or the estimated fair value of the services given, whichever is 
more reliably determinable. Revenues from non-monetary transactions are recog-
nized when the related services are rendered. Expenses resulting from non-mon-
etary transactions are recognized during the period when goods or services are 
provided by third parties.

Notes to consolidated Financial Statements, as at december 31, 2006
2. accounting policies (Cont’d)
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

in millions of dollars

Notes to consolidated Financial Statements, as at december 31, 2006

	 2006	 2005

	 	 Accumulated	 	 	 Accumulated
	 Cost	 Amortization	 Net	 Cost 	 Amortization	 Net

Land 	 5.7	 -	 5.7	 5.0	 -	 5.0

Rolling stock	 772.0	 448.5	 323.5	 746.9	 413.4	 333.5

Maintenance buildings	 181.8	 133.0	 48.8	 181.8	 124.6	 57.2

Stations and facilities	 45.1	 28.6	1 6.5	 44.2	 26.6	 17.6

Infrastructure improvements	 147.8	 53.9	 93.9	 141.4	 50.1	 91.3

Leasehold improvements	 114.2	 90.2	 24.0	 113.0	 87.4	 25.6

Machinery and equipment	 35.5	 29.5	 6.0	 34.2	 28.5	 5.7

Information systems	 46.2	 43.0	 3.2	 44.1	 39.9	 4.2

Other property, plant 
   and equipment	 20.4	1 9.4	1 .0	 20.2	 19.3	 0.9

	1 ,368.7	 846.1	 522.6	 1,330.8	 789.8	 541.0

Projects in progress			   10.1			   28.7

Retired property, plant and 
   equipment (at net realizable value)			   0.4			   1.3

			   533.1			   571.0

Projects in progress as at December 31, 2006, primarily consist of rolling stock for 
$4.0 million (2005: $23.4 million) and improvements to infrastructure and informa-
tion systems for $4.7 million (2005: $3.1 million).
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4. ASSET RENEWAL FUND 
The Corporation has been authorized by the Treasury Board of the Government of 
Canada to segregate proceeds from the sale or lease of surplus assets as well as 
up to $5 million of annual funding approved but not expended during the fiscal year 
to 2006. 

The Asset Renewal Fund includes the following investment instruments:

in millions of dollars

	 2006	 2005

	 	 Market	 	 Market
	 Cost	 Value	 Cost 	 value

Government of Canada bonds  	 -	 -	 18.2	 25.0

Other Canadian bonds and debentures	 -	 -	 16.1	 17.6

Pooled equity unit trust	 -	 -	 58.4	 61.7

Cash and short-term investments	 77.1	 77.1	 13.5	 13.5

	 77.1	 77.1	 106.2	 117.8

Expected cash drawdown	 22.0		  37.7	

Long-term portion	 55.1		  68.5	

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Treasury Board approved the use of 
the Asset Renewal Fund to fund $9.4 million of the 2006 operating deficit and $14.5 
million of the 2006 capital expenditures.

The short-term portion of the Asset Renewal Fund presented as Current Assets 
represents the amount of cash that the Corporation expects to draw from the fund 
in 2007 for operating expenses and capital expenditures.

The weighted average effective rate of return on short-term investments as at De-
cember 31, 2006, was 4.38 per cent (2005: 5.10 per cent) and the weighted average 
term to maturity as at December 31, 2006, is one month (2005: 7 years).

The market value of short-term investments is based on the current bid price at the 
Consolidated Balance Sheet date.

The Asset Renewal Fund is invested in 21 short-term money market funds that have 
a rating of “R-1 low” or higher.  The diversification in short term securities is pro-
vided by limiting to 10 per cent or less the percentage of the market value of the 
Asset Renewal Fund assets invested in securities of a single issuer.

The Corporation is subject to credit risk from its holdings of the Asset Renewal Fund. 
The Corporation minimizes its credit risks by adhering to the Minister of Finance of 
Canada Financial Risk Management Guidelines for Crown Corporations and the Cor-
porate Investment Policy and by investing in high quality financial instruments.

Notes to consolidated Financial Statements, as at december 31, 2006
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Notes to consolidated Financial Statements, as at december 31, 2006

5. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

The Accounts payable and accrued liabilities include the following:

in millions of dollars

	 	 2006	  	 2005

Accrued liabilites  		  27.8		  31.9

Wages payable and accrued	 	 31.9		  31.7

Trade payables	 	 25.5		  25.0

Capital tax, income tax and other taxes payable	 	 8.2		  7.6

Derivative financial instruments	 	 0.5		  1.2

Current portion of network restructuring		
   and reorganization accrual 		  0.6		  1.7

Other		  0.2		  0.1

		  94.7		  99.2	
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6. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS
The Corporation provides a number of funded defined benefit pension plans as well 
as unfunded post retirement and post-employment benefits that include life insur-
ance, health coverage and self insured Workers’ Compensation benefits, to all its per-
manent employees. The actuarial valuations for employee future benefits are carried 
out by external actuaries who are members of the Canadian Institute of Actuaries.

The defined benefit pension plans are based on years of service and final average 
salary.

Pension benefits increase annually by 50 per cent of the increase in the Consumer 
Price Index in the 12 months ending in December subject to a maximum increase of 
3 per cent in any year.

The latest actuarial valuation for the post-retirement unfunded plan was carried out as 
at July 31, 2004.  The next actuarial valuation will be carried out as at July 31, 2007.

The latest actuarial valuation for the post-employment unfunded plan was carried out 
as at August 31, 2004.  The next actuarial valuation will be carried out as at August 
31, 2007.

The latest actuarial valuation for the self-insured workers’ compensation benefits was 
carried out as at January 1, 2004.  The next actuarial valuation will be carried out as at 
January 1, 2007, and will be available in September 2007.

The latest actuarial valuations of the pension plans were carried out as at December 
31, 2004. The next actuarial valuation will be carried out as at December 31, 2007, and 
will be available in June 2008. 

The actuarial valuation of the Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan is carried out 
annually. The last actuarial valuation was carried out as at December 31, 2006.

Notes to consolidated Financial Statements, as at december 31, 2006



51

VI
A

 R
ai

l 
Ca

na
da

 |
 0

6

Based on these actuarial valuations and projections to December 31, the summary 
of the principal valuation results, in aggregate, is as follows:

in millions of dollars

	 Pension Plans	 Other Benefit Plans

	 2006	 2005	 2006 	 2005

Accrued benefit obligation:  
Balance at beginning of year	 1,511.4	 1,351.6	 29.8	 27.5

Current service cost	 26.0	 20.0	 4.7	 4.5

Employee contributions	 9.6	 9.8	 -	 -

Interest cost	 74.8	 76.3	 1.5	 1.6

Benefits paid	 (90.0)	 (79.8)	 (6.0)	 (5.8)

Net transfer in	 0.2	 -	 -	 -	

Special termination benefits	 -	 1.8	 -	 0.1

Actuarial (gain) loss	 0.8	 131.7	 (0.3)	 1.9

Accrued benefit obligation at the end of year	 1,532.8	 1,511.4	 29.7	 29.8

Fair value of plan assets:
Balance at beginning of year	1 ,659.0	 1,465.2	 -	 -

Actual return on plan assets	 183.3	 256.3	 -	 -

Employer contributions	 15.1	 7.5	 6.0	 5.8

Employee contributions	 9.6	 9.8	 -	 -

Net transfer in	 0.2	 -	 -	 -

Benefits paid	 (90.0)	 (79.8)	 (6.0)	 (5.8)

Balance at end of year	1 ,777.2	 1,659.0	 -	 -

Notes to consolidated Financial Statements, as at december 31, 2006
6. employee future benefits (Cont’d)
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The percentage of the fair value of the total pension plan assets by major category as 
at December 31 was as follows:

 

Asset categories:	 	 2006	  	 2005

Equity securities (public market)		  57.3%		  57.2%

Fixed income securities (public market)		  32.6%		  34.1%

Private equity, hedge funds and other		  10.0%		  7.5%

Real estate		  0.1%		  1.2%

		  100.0%		  100.0%	

in millions of dollars

	 Pension Plans	 Other Benefit Plans

	 2006	 2005	 2006 	 2005

Reconciliation of the funded status:  
Fair value of plan assets	 1,777.2	 1,659.0	 -	 -

Accrued benefit obligation	 1,532.8	 1,511.4	 29.7	 29.8

Funded status of plans - surplus (deficit)	 244.4	 147.6	 (29.7)	 (29.8)

Unamortized net actuarial losses 	 201.7	 276.8	 1.2	 1.6

Unamortized past service costs	 2.7	 3.1	 0.5	 0.5

Unamortized transitional (asset) obligation	 (217.9)	 (250.3)	 4.3	 6.8

	 230.9	 177.2	 (23.7)	 (20.9)

Network restructuring long-term liability 	 -	 -	 (0.8)	 (0.9)

Accrued benefit asset (liability)	 230.9	 177.2	 (24.5)	 (21.8)

Notes to consolidated Financial Statements, as at december 31, 2006
6. employee future benefits (Cont’d)
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in millions of dollars

	 Pension Plans	 Other Benefit Plans

	 2006	 2005	 2006 	 2005

Elements of defined benefit 
costs recognized in the year:
Current service cost	 26.0	 20.0	 4.7	 4.5

Interest cost	 74.8	 76.3	 1.5	 1.6

Actual return on plan assets	 (183.3)	 (256.3)	 -	 -

Actuarial losses (gains)	 0.8	 131.7	 (0.3)	 1.9

Special termination benefits	 -	 1.8	 -	 0.1

Elements of employee future benefits  
(income) costs before adjustment  
to recognize the long-term nature 
of these costs	 (81.7)	 (26.5)	 5.9	 8.1

Adjustments to recognize the long-term 
nature of employee future benefits costs:
Differences between:

Expected return and actual return  
on plan assets for the year	 66.1	 153.1	 -	 -

Actuarial loss (gain) recognized for the year
and the actual actuarial loss on accrued benefit
obligation for the year	 9.0	 (118.2)	 0.4	 (1.9)

Amortization of past service costs for the year 
and the actual plan amendments for the year	 0.4	 0.4	 0.1	 0.1

Amortization of transitional (asset) obligation	 (32.4)	 (32.5)	 2.4	 2.4

Defined benefit (income) costs recognized	 (38.6)	 (23.7)	 8.8	 8.7

The employee future benefits expense in the Consolidated Statement of Operations 
and Retained Earnings includes the pension plans net income, the other benefit 
plans net costs as well as the adjustment of Network restructuring and reorganiza-
tion accrual of $0.1 million (2005: $1.0 million).

Notes to consolidated Financial Statements, as at december 31, 2006
6. employee future benefits (Cont’d)
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	 Pension Plans	 Other Benefit Plans

	 2006	 2005	 2006 	 2005

Weighted-average of significant 
assumptions:
Accrued benefit obligation as at December 31:

Discount rate	 5.00%	 5.00%	 5.00%	 5.00%

Rate of compensation increase	 3.25%	 3.25%	 3.25%	 3.25%

Benefit costs for the year 
ended December 31:	

Discount rate	 5.00%	 5.75%	 5.00%	 5.75%

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets	 7.25%	 7.25%	 -	 -

Rate of compensation increase	 3.25%	 3.25%	 3.25%	 3.25%

Assumed health care cost trend rates  
as at December 31:

Initial health care cost trend rate	 -	 -	 5.88%	 6.50%

Cost trend rate declines to	 -	 -	 3.37%	 3.37%

Year ultimate rate is reached	 -	 -	 2011	 2011

Sensitivity analysis

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts re-
ported for the health care plans. A one-percentage-point change in assumed health 
care cost trend rates would have the following effects for 2006:

in thousands of dollars

	 INCREASE	 DECREASE

Total service and interest cost		  19		  (18)

Accrued benefit obligation		  235		  (210)

Notes to consolidated Financial Statements, as at december 31, 2006
6. employee future benefits (Cont’d)
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7. CORPORATE TAXES
The corporate tax expense of the Corporation consists of the following:

in millions of dollars

	 	 2006	 	 2005

Current tax expense	 	 -		  0.4

Future corporate tax expense		  0.5		  1.6

Corporate tax expense		  0.5		  2.0

Corporate tax expense on net income for the year differs from the amount that 
would be computed by applying the combined federal and provincial statutory in-
come tax rates of 32.4 per cent (2005: 32.3 per cent) to income before corporate 
taxes. The reasons for the differences are as follows:

in millions of dollars	 	

	 	 2006		  2005

Computed tax expense - statutory rates	 	11 .0		  7.8

Permanent differences:

Large corporation tax expense		  -		  0.4

Non-taxable portion of capital and accounting gains		  (2.2)		  (3.5)

Non-taxable portion of dividends received		  -		  (0.2)

Adjustment to future corporate tax assets and liabilities 
   for changes in tax laws and rates		  (3.9)		  -

Recognition of tax benefits previously not recognized		  (4.4)		  (2.7)

Other		  -		  0.2

		  0.5		  2.0

Notes to consolidated Financial Statements, as at december 31, 2006
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Future corporate income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting pur-
poses and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of 
the future corporate tax assets and liabilities of the Corporation are as follows:

in millions of dollars

	 	 2006	 	 2005

Future corporate tax assets:

Property, plant and equipment	 	 (19.2)		  (18.2)

Contingencies, other liabilities and net amounts		  (4.0)		  (5.0)

Accrued benefit liability		  (7.6)		  (7.1)

Loss carry-forward		  (11.9)		  (6.9)

		  (42.7)		  (37.2)

Less the valuation allowance		  7.8		  12.2

		  (34.9)		  (25.0)

Future corporate tax liabilities:

Accrued benefit asset		  68.8		  58.5

Unrealized gain on derivative financial intruments		  2.0		  1.9

		  70.8		  60.4

Net future corporate tax liabilities		  35.9		  35.4

The Corporation has $40.8 million of unused federal non-capital tax losses carried 
forward and their related year of expiry are as follows:

in millions of dollars

2007	 2.2

2008	 4.0

2010	 0.7

2014	 3.3

2015	 12.0

2026	 18.6

		  40.8
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8. DEFERRED CAPITAL FUNDING
Deferred capital funding represents the unamortized portion of the funding used to 
purchase property, plant and equipment.

in millions of dollars

	 	 2006	 	 2005

Balance, beginning of year	 	 578.7		  635.6

Deferred capital funding consolidated from Keewatin Railway Co.	 7.3		  -

Government funding for depreciable property, plant and equipment	 -		  0.7

Amortization of deferred capital funding		  (55.8)		  (57.6)

Balance, end of year		  530.2		  578.7

9. SHARE CAPITAL
The authorized share capital of the Corporation is comprised of an unlimited number 
of common shares with no par value.  As at December 31, 2006 and 2005, 93,000 
shares at $100 per share are issued and fully paid.

10. COMMITMENTS

A | The future minimum payments relating to operating leases mainly for real estate, 
maintenance of way and computer equipment are as follows:

in millions of dollars

2007	 17.5

2008	 18.3

2009	 11.7

2010	 8.3

2011	 8.3

Subsequent years proportionately to 2049	 166.8

		  230.9

B | As at December 31, 2006, the Corporation has outstanding purchase commit-
ments amounting to $5.6 million (2005: $5.7 million) consisting mainly of adver-
tising as well as the maintenance and completion of rolling stock projects.

c | The Corporation has entered into train service agreements for the use of tracks 
and control of train operations expiring on December 31, 2008.

D | The Corporation has issued letters of credit totalling approximately $17.7 million 
(2005: $19.9 million) to various provincial government workers’ compensation 
boards as security for future payment streams.

57

Notes to consolidated Financial Statements, as at december 31, 2006



58

11. Variable Interest Entities
In April 2006, as part of its mandate to provide passenger rail service in Canada, 
the Corporation entered into an operating agreement with the Keewatin Railway 
Company (“KRC”) to provide a financial contribution to KRC for the purposes of op-
erating passenger rail services and essential freight to the communities in Northern 
Manitoba served by KRC. The Corporation will contribute an annual amount to KRC 
to fund a significant portion of KRC’s operating expenditures and is at risk of increas-
ing the level of contributions if net operating costs were to increase. KRC is a Vari-
able Interest Entity (VIE) to the Corporation given that the Corporation is the primary 
beneficiary exposed to a majority of the risk of loss from KRC’s activities.

In 2006, the financial contribution provided by the Corporation to KRC amounted to 
$2.0 million.  

For the year ended December 31, 2006 KRC has received $7.4 million in Deferred 
Capital Funding. The liabilities recognized as a result of consolidating KRC do not 
represent additional claims on the Corporation’s assets; rather, they represent claims 
against the specific assets of KRC. Conversely, assets having a net book value of  
$7.9 million recognized as a result of consolidating KRC do not represent additional 
assets that could be used to satisfy claims against the Corporation’s assets. Addition-
ally, the consolidation of the KRC VIE did not result in any change in the underlying 
tax, legal or credit exposure of the Corporation.

Notes to consolidated Financial Statements, as at december 31, 2006
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12. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The derivative financial instruments used by the Corporation include swaps which 
are typically a commodity or price swap where parties exchange payments in cash 
based on changes in the price of the commodity (heating oil) or a market index while 
fixing the price they effectively pay for fuel. The Corporation has also used call options 
that give the Corporation the right but not the obligation to buy a futures contract 
for a specified price within a specified period of time in exchange for premium pay-
ment. It obligates the seller of an option to sell the underlying futures contract at the 
designated price should the option be exercised at that price. These call options can 
no longer be exercised should the price of the commodity exceed a trigger level for 
more than a specified amount of time. The foreign exchange forwards and futures 
are contractual agreements to either buy or sell U.S. dollars at a specified price and 
date in the future.

At year-end, the Corporation had the following derivative financial instruments with 
positive fair values:
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Notes to consolidated Financial Statements, as at december 31, 2006

	 	 	
	 	 FIXED PRICE PER	 NOTIONAL  QUANTITY	 FAIR VALUE CAD 	 	
DESCRIPTION	 MATURITY DATE	 U.S. GALLON (USD)	 (OOO’S OF U.S. GALLONS)	 (OOO’S)

	 2006	 2005

Crude swap	 Dec. 31, 2006	 1.560	 2,016	 -	 572

Crude swap	 Dec. 31, 2006	 0.818	 4,536	 -	 5,098

Crude swap	 Dec. 31, 2007	 0.800	 4,536	 5,036	 5,085

Crude swap	 Dec. 31, 2007	 1.498	 2,016	 648	 743

Crude swap	 Dec. 31, 2007	 1.780	 1,008	 2	 64

Crude swap	 Dec. 31, 2008	 1.860	 1,008	 39	 -

Crude swap	 Dec. 31, 2008	 1.799	 1,008	 105	 **

Crude swap	 Dec. 31, 2008	 1.457	 2,016	 952	 690

				    6,782	 12,252

** This financial instrument had a negative fair value in 2005.
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	 	 FORWARD RATE	 NOTIONAL  AMOUNT	 FAIR VALUE CAD 	 	
DESCRIPTION	 MATURITY DATE	 CAD/USD	 (USD) (OOO’S)	 (OOO’S)	

	 2006	 2005

Foreign Exchange	 Monthly in 2006	 1.148	 824	 -	 8

Foreign Exchange	 Monthly in 2007	 1.148	 1,794	 20	 -

Foreign Exchange	 Monthly in 2007	 1.147	 1,859	 22	 5

Foreign Exchange	 Monthly in 2007	 1.142	 1,885	 31	 -

Foreign Exchange	 Monthly in 2008	 1.110	 2,936	 110	 -

				    183	 13

				    6,965	 12,265

At year-end, the Corporation had the following derivative financial instruments with 
negative fair values:

	 	 FORWARD RATE	 NOTIONAL  AMOUNT	 FAIR VALUE CAD 	
DESCRIPTION	 MATURITY DATE	 CAD/USD	 (USD) (OOO’S)	 (OOO’S)

	 2006	 2005

Foreign Exchange	 Monthly in 2006	 1.290	 2,117	 -	 (273)

Foreign Exchange	 Monthly in 2006	 1.277	 357	 -	 (42)

Foreign Exchange	 Monthly in 2006	 1.189	 5,999	 -	 (182)

Foreign Exchange	 Monthly in 2006	 1.170	 3,730	 -	 (46)

Foreign Exchange	 Monthly in 2006	 1.181	 4,098	 -	 (94)

Foreign Exchange	 Monthly in 2007	 1.179	 9,369	 (178)	 (254)

				    (178)	 (891)
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Notes to consolidated Financial Statements, as at december 31, 2006
12. derivative financial instruments (Cont’d)

	 	 FIXED PRICE PER	 NOTIONAL  QUANTITY	 FAIR VALUE CAD 	
DESCRIPTION	 MATURITY DATE	 U.S. GALLON (USD)	 (OOO’S OF U.S. GALLONS)	 (OOO’S)

	 2006	 2005

Crude swap	 Dec. 31, 2006	 2.033	 2,016	 -	 (507)

Crude swap	 Dec. 31, 2006	 1.850	 2,016	 -	 (91)

Crude swap	 Dec. 31, 2007	 1.844	 1,008	 (71)	 (6)

Crude swap	 Dec. 31, 2007	 1.870	 1,008	 (101)	 -

Crude swap	 Dec. 31, 2007	 1.996	 1,008	 (244)	 -

Crude swap	 Dec. 31, 2008	 1.799	 1,008	 **	 (10)

Crude swap	 Dec. 31, 2008	 1.945	 1,008	 (53)	 -

				    (469)	 (614)

** This financial instrument has a positive fair value in 2006	

	
	 	 CAP PRICE PER	 TRIGGER LEVEL 	 NOTIONAL QUANTITY 	 FAIR VALUE CAD
DESCRIPTION	 MATURITY 	 U.S. GALLON 	 PER  U.S. GALLON	 (OOO’S OF U.S. 	 (OOO’S)	
	 DATE	 (USD)	 (USD)	 GALLONS)	

	 	 	 	 	 2006	 2005

Crude call 	 Dec. 31, 
option	 2006	 1.065	 1.450	 2,520	 -	 (13)

					     (647)	 (1,518)

The fair value of the positive balance of the above derivative financial instruments 
at December 31, 2006 is $7.0 million (2005: $12.3 million) of which $5.8 million is 
recorded as Current assets (2005: $5.7 million) and $1.2 million as Long-term as-
sets (2005: $6.6 million). The negative balance is $0.6 million (2005: $1.5 million) of 
which $0.5 million (2005: $1.2 million) is included in “Account payable and accrued 
liabilities” as a short-term derivative financial instrument liability and $0.1 million 
(2005: $0.3 million) is included in “Other” as a long-term derivative financial instru-
ment liability.

Included in the “Train operations and fuel” expense is a realized and unrealized net 
loss of $0.1 million (2005: net gain of $13.5 million) on these derivative financial 
instruments.

The Corporation is exposed to credit risk in the event of non-performance by the 
counterparty to its derivative financial instruments but does not expect such non-
performance as the counterparty is of high credit quality.
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13. FAIR VALUE OF OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The estimated fair value of the recognized financial instruments other than derivative 
financial instruments approximates their carrying value due to their current nature.

14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Corporation is related in terms of common ownership to all Government of 
Canada created departments and agencies. The Corporation enters into transactions 
with these entities in the normal course of business on trade terms applicable to all 
individuals and enterprises and these transactions are recorded at exchange value. 
Other than disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, related 
party transactions are not significant.

15. NON-MONETARY TRANSACTIONS
The Corporation recorded a revenue from non-monetary transactions of approxi-
mately $1.6 million (2005: $1.0 million) as “Passenger revenue” in the accompany-
ing consolidated statements of operations and retained earnings for the year ended 
December 31, 2006. The Corporation also recorded non-monetary expenses of  
$1.5 million (2005: $1.0 million) in the accompanying consolidated statement of op-
erations and retained earnings, mainly as “Marketing and sales” and other expenses 
resulting from non-monetary transactions.

16. CONTINGENCIES

A | The Canadian Transportation Agency (CTA) rendered a decision in October 2003 
against the Corporation in favour of the Council for Canadians with Disabilities 
(CCD). The Corporation was directed to re-design and re-construct its Renais-
sance rail cars to remove certain undue obstacles to persons with disabilities.  

On March 2, 2005, the Corporation was successful in overturning the earlier CTA 
decision by a judgement of the Federal Court of Appeal.  That appeal decision has 
been further appealed to the Supreme Court of Canada by the CCD.  The Supreme 
Court heard the case on May 19, 2006. The decision is still pending.

If the CTA decision is finally upheld, the cost of modifying the Renaissance cars 
would be significant. Management is of the opinion that this could cost between 
$50 million and $100 million, an amount that would exceed funding approved by the 
Government of Canada for the Renaissance project.  No provision has been made 
in the consolidated financial statements for a major modification of the cars.

B | The Corporation began a restructuring of its labour force in 1997 which resulted 
in the elimination of a number of positions. The changes became subject to 
various Canadian Industrial Relations Board (CIRB) decisions, mediations and 
arbitrations.

Notes to consolidated Financial Statements, as at december 31, 2006
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In May 2003, the CIRB rendered a decision directing the Corporation to pay back 
wages under certain circumstances to former conductors. The Supreme Court 
decided not to grant the Corporation leave to appeal a Federal Court of Appeal 
ruling supporting the decision of the CIRB.  

The Corporation is waiting for the final ruling from the arbitrator.

The Corporation has made a provision in its consolidated financial statements.

C | The Corporation’s operations are subject to numerous federal, provincial, and mu-
nicipal environmental laws and regulations concerning among other things, the 
management of air emissions, wastewater, hazardous materials, wastes and soil 
contamination as well as the management and decommissioning of underground 
and aboveground storage tanks. A risk of environmental liability is inherent in 
railroad and related transportation operations, real estate ownership and other 
activities of the Corporation with respect to both current and past operations. 

The Corporation has performed an assessment of all of its operations and of all 
of its sites and facilities at risk in order to determine the environmental risks. The 
sites and the facilities for which environmental risks were identified were the sub-
ject of thorough studies and corrective actions were taken if necessary in order 
to eliminate or to attenuate these risks. The continuous risk management pro-
cess that is in place allows the Corporation to monitor its activities and properties 
under normal operating conditions as well as monitor accidents that occur. The 
activities or properties likely to be contaminated or to cause a contamination are 
addressed without delay, at the moment of their observation, by the development 
of an action plan according to the nature and the importance of the impact and the 
applicable requirements. As at December 31, 2006, the Corporation believes that 
no environmental provision is required.

The Corporation’s ongoing efforts to identify potential environmental concerns 
that may be associated with its properties may lead to future environmental in-
vestigations, which may result in the identification of additional environmental 
costs and liabilities. The magnitude of such additional liabilities and the costs of 
complying with environmental laws and containing or remediating contamination 
cannot be reasonably estimated due to:

i)	 the lack of specific technical information available with respect to many sites; 
ii)	 the absence of any third-party claims with respect to particular sites; 
iii)	 the potential for new or changed laws and regulations and for development 

of new remediation technologies and uncertainty regarding the timing of the 
work with respect to particular sites; 

iv)	the ability to recover costs from any third parties with respect to particular 
sites; 

v)	 the fact that the environmental responsibility has not been clearly attributed.

There can thus be no assurance that material liabilities or costs related to envi-
ronmental matters will not be incurred in the future, or will not have a material 
adverse effect on the Corporation’s financial position. Costs related to any future 
remediation will be accrued in the year in which they become known.
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D | The Corporation is subject to claims and legal proceedings brought against it in 
the normal course of business. Such matters are subject to many uncertainties. 
Management believes that adequate provisions have been made in the accounts 
where required and the ultimate resolution of such contingencies are not expect-
ed to have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the Corporation.

17. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATION
The Corporation has certain operating leases where the lessor could request that 
the land/structures or the other assets be returned in the same condition as they 
were originally leased or the lessor can retake control of these assets without any 
compensation for any additions or modifications made to the initial assets. Given the 
nature of the assets under contract, the fair value of the asset retirement obligation 
cannot be reasonably estimated.  Accordingly, no liability has been recognized in the 
consolidated financial statements.

18. RECLASSIFICATION
The comparative financial statements have been reclassified from the statements 
previously presented to conform to the presentation of the 2006 consolidated finan-
cial statements.

Notes to consolidated Financial Statements, as at december 31, 2006
16. contingencies (Cont’d)
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Michel Crête  
Montreal, Quebec

Steven Cummings  
Montreal, Quebec

Angela Ferrante 
Toronto, Ontario

Paul Fraser 
Surrey, British Columbia

Jean-Louis Hamel  
Montreal, Quebec

Wendy Kelly  
Regina, Saskatchewan

Margaret MacInnis 
Halifax, Nova Scotia

Lore Mirwaldt 
Winnipeg, Manitoba

Donald Pettit  
Vancouver, British Columbia

Timothy Reid 
Toronto, Ontario

Charles Ross 
London, Ontario

Kenneth Savage, CA, CFP 
Fredericton, New Brunswick

Paul G. Smith  
Calgary, Alberta

Louis Tremblay 
Cornwall, Ontario

Donald A. Wright  
Chairman of the Board 
Toronto, Ontario

The Board wishes to thank outgoing 
member James J. Smith for his 
important contribution. 

Officers

Paul Côté   
President and Chief Executive Officer 

Steve Del Bosco 
Chief Customer Officer

Christena Keon Sirsly 
Chief Strategy Officer

Carole Mackaay 
General Counsel and Secretary

John Marginson 
Chief Operating Officer

Denis Pinsonneault 
Chief People Officer 

Robert St-Jean, CA 
Chief Financial and  
Administration Officer

Donald A. Wright, Chairman of the 
Board, is an ex officio member of each 
Committee of the Board. 

Paul Côté, President and Chief 
Executive Officer, is an ex officio 
member of each Committee of the 
Board except for the Audit & Risk 
Committee.
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Committees of the Board

Audit and Risk Committee

Kenneth Savage, CA,CFP, Chairman
Steven Cummings
Jean-Louis Hamel
Louis Tremblay

Human Resources Committee

Angela Ferrante, Chair
Michel Crête
Margaret MacInnis
Lore Mirwaldt
Donald Pettit
Timothy Reid

Investment Committee

Paul Fraser, Chairman
Steven Cummings
Jean-Louis Hamel
Kenneth Savage, CA, CFP
Paul G. Smith
	
Corporate Governance Committee

Jean-Louis Hamel, Chairman
Angela Ferrante
Wendy Kelly
Margaret MacInnis
Lore Mirwaldt
Charles Ross

Planning and Finance Committee

Vacant, Chairman
Michel Crête
Paul Fraser
Wendy Kelly
Timothy Reid
Charles Ross
Kenneth Savage, CA, CFP
Paul G. Smith
Louis Tremblay

VIA Office Locations

Headquarters and Quebec
3 Place Ville-Marie
Suite 500
Montreal, Quebec
H3B 2C9

514 871-6000

Postal address:
P.O. Box 8116, Station A
Montreal, Quebec
H3C 3N3

Atlantic
1161 Hollis Street
Halifax, Nova Scotia
B3H 2P6

902 494-7900

Ontario
65 Front Street West
Room 222
Toronto, Ontario
M5J 1E6

416 956-7600

West
146-123 Main Street
Winnipeg, Manitoba
R3C 1A3

204 949-7447

1150 Station Street
Vancouver, B.C.
V6A 2C7

604 640-3700

www.viarail.ca

® Registered trademark owned by VIA Rail Canada Inc.
TM Trademark owned by VIA Rail Canada Inc.
Design: Sextans	 Printing: Gibraltar

Photos: Caroline Bergeron, except pages 4, 6, 14 (left), 
and 35 (bottom center), Marc Dussault; page 3 (top right), 
19, and 35 (top right), Jeff Chiang; page 35 (top centre), 
Roger Aziz.

Special thanks to all the VIA employees who agreed to 
appear in this annual report.


